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OUR LEGACY,
CARING FOR PEOPLE

A Bank with local knowledge that knows its customers and their financial
needs; a Bank that encourages its people to dream big and assists them in
turning their dreams into reality; a Bank that continues to provide opportunities/
scholarships for the educational development of youth. This Bank believes in
the ability of young athletes to excel and reach their full potential. We support
culture and the arts and never forget the contribution of the elderly or the
differently able. This is a Bank that cares, a legacy that has been upheld
since 1938.

VISION
In 2018, 1st National Bank St. Lucia
Limited is the first choice financial
services provider, ranking in the top
three in profitability in the OECS: and
an outstanding corporate citizen with
empowered staff and visionary leaders.

MISSION
To create sustainable value for
shareholders by providing high quality
financial solutions and services to the
global market whilst contributing to
national development.

CORE VALUES
Integrity; Confidentiality;
Accountability; Professionalism

OUR LEGACY,
CARING FOR PEOPLE
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Notice is hereby given that the Seventy-Ninth Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the 1st National Bank St.
Lucia Limited will be held at the Finance Administrative Centre, Pointe Seraphine, Castries, on Thursday, 25th
May, 2017 at 5:00 p.m.

AGENDA
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

Tabling of Proxies
To confirm the Minutes of the 78th Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on 24th May, 2016.
Review of Matters arising out of the Minutes
To consider and adopt the 2016 Report of the Board of Directors
To consider and adopt the Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders for the year ended 31st
December, 2016.
To consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December, 2016.
To appoint the Independent Auditor for the year ending 31st December, 2017.
To sanction the payment of a dividend as recommended by the Board of Directors
To elect three Directors.
In accordance with Section 4.6 of the Bank’s By-Law No. 1, the following directors retire by rotation:
•
•
•

Mr. Richard Monplaisir – who is eligible for re-election
Mr. Johnson Cenac – who is eligible for re-election
Mr. Tedburt Theobalds – who is eligible for re-election.

Note
•

Nominations may be made either in writing or on the prescribed forms and must reach
the Bank’s registered office at least five (5) days before the day of holding the meeting,
(viz. by Friday, 19th May, 2017).

NOTE

A Shareholder entitled to attend the meeting and vote may appoint a proxy to vote in his/her place. A
person appointed by proxy need not be a shareholder. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing
under the hand of the appointer or of his/her attorney duly authorized in writing, or if such appointer is a
corporation, either under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or authority so authorized. The
instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority if any under which it is signed
or a notarially certified copy of that power of authority shall be deposited at the registered office of THE
COMPANY not less than forty eight hours before the time for holding the meeting at which the person
named in the instrument proposes to vote and in default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.
NOTICE is also hereby given that the Share Transfer Book of the Bank will be closed from 10th May, 2017 to
25th May, 2017 both dates inclusive.
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD
Henri-Jacques Mangal
Corporate Secretary & Legal Officer
28th April, 2017
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NOMINATION OF CANDIDATE FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR OF
1st NATIONAL BANK ST. LUCIA LIMITED

NOTE
Every director shall be the holder in his or her own right of at least one hundred unencumbered shares in the
capital of THE COMPANY.
No one (other than a retiring director) shall be eligible to be a director unless notice in writing that he or she is a
candidate for such office shall have been given to THE COMPANY by two other shareholders of THE COMPANY
at least five days before the day of holding the meeting at which the election is to take place.
We, the undersigned Shareholders of the above Bank nominate ……………………................…..................….of
…………..........……………………………………………………… as a candidate for election as a Director of the
Bank at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders scheduled for ……………………………………………….
Candidate’s Contact No.……………………………………....

Email Address…………………………………....

Signed………………………………….....				

Signed………………………………….....

…………………………………................				
Print Name (above) 						

…………………………………................
Print Name (above)

Date………………………………….........				

Date………………………………….........

Tel. Contact No…………………………..				

Tel. Contact No………………………..…

Email Address………………………..				

Email Address………………………..

Please refer to pages 6 and 7 for the Guidelines on minimum criteria for determining fitness for Directorship.

1st National Bank Annual Report 2016

6

GUIDELINES ON MINIMUM CRITERIA FOR
DETERMINING FITNESS FOR DIRECTORSHIP
(as outlined in Section 97 of the Banking Act No. 3 of 2015)

Every person who is, or is likely to be a director of the Bank, must be a fit and proper person to hold the
particular position. In general determination of this status, regard shall be had to the following:(a) the person’s probity, competence and soundness of judgement for fulfilling the responsibility of a
Director;
(b) the academic or professional qualifications or effective experience in banking, finance, business or
administration or any other relevant discipline of the person concerned;
(c) the diligence with which that person is likely to fulfill the responsibilities of the position;
(d) whether the interests of depositors or potential depositors of the Bank are, or are likely to be, in any way
threatened by the person holding the position;
(e) whether the person is a significant shareholder, director or officer or holds any position of authority in
any licensed financial institution locally or elsewhere whose licence has been suspended, or revoked
or otherwise than as a result of an amalgamation or voluntary liquidation or which has been or is being
wound up or compulsorily liquidated;
(f) whether the person has failed to satisfy any judgment or order of a court locally or abroad including the
repayment of a debt;
(g) whether the person is an un-discharged bankrupt or has been declared a bankrupt locally or abroad;
and
(h) whether the person has been removed or suspended by a regulatory authority from serving as a director
or officer in a licensed financial institution or any body corporate locally or abroad.

continued on following page…
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In addition to the general provisions above, regard must be had to the previous conduct and
activities in business or financial matters of the person, and in particular, to any evidence that the
person nominated as a candidate has:(a) committed an offence involving fraud or other dishonesty or violence;
(b) contravened any provision made by or under an enactment designed for protecting members
of the public against financial loss due to dishonesty, incompetence or malpractice by persons
concerned in the provision of banking, insurance, investment or other financial services or the
management of companies or against financial loss due to the conduct of a discharged or undischarged bankrupt;
(c) engaged in any business practices appearing to the board to be deceitful or oppressive or
otherwise improper (whether unlawful or not) or which otherwise reflect discredit on the person’s
method of conducting business;
(d) an employment record which leads the board to believe that the person carried out an act of
impropriety in the handling of his employer’s business; or
(e) engaged in or been associated with any other business practices or otherwise conducted
himself in a manner as to cast doubt on his competence and soundness of judgment.
Further, a person nominated as a candidate for Directorship must:
(a) be current in his/her financial commitments and other obligations to the Bank and other financial
institutions; and
(b) not be a member of either the Board, Management or Staff of institutions involved in business
of a financial nature including banking business.
Note: All Nominees for Directorship are required to complete a Questionnaire provided by
the Bank. Due Diligence will also be conducted by the Bank with respect to all nominees.
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APPOINTMENT OF PROXY
NOTE
The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer, or of his or her
attorney duly authorised in writing, or if such appointer be a corporation either under its common seal or
under the hand of an officer or attorney so authorised. A proxy shall have the same rights as the shareholder
appointing him or her as defined in Sections 138 and 145 of THE COMPANIES ACT 1996 (Rev. 2001). A
proxy is valid only at the meeting in respect of which it is given or any adjournment thereof.
The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority if any under which it is
signed or a notarially certified copy of that power of authority shall be deposited at the registered office of
THE COMPANY not less than forty-eight hours before the time for holding the meeting at which the person
named in the instrument proposes to vote and in default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as
valid.
A person appointed as a proxy need not be a shareholder.

I ………………………………………………...... of …………….........................................................…
being a shareholder of the above company, hereby appoint…………………………………………....
of……………..……………………………….or failing him/her……………………………………............
of ……………………………………………… my proxy to vote for me and on my behalf at the meeting
of shareholders of the above company to be held on …………………................ the …………... day of
...………………………, 20…….. and at any adjournment or adjournments thereof.
Signed this ………………….... day of ………………………………, 20…….
Signed: …………………………..
													
………………………………….........
Print Name (above)
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Corporate Data | 1st NATIONAL BANK ST. LUCIA LTD.
Corporate Office
Rodney Bay, Gros Islet
P.O. Box 168, Castries
St. Lucia, West Indies
Tel: (758) 455 7000
Fax: (758) 453 1630
Castries Branch
21 Bridge Street
P.O. Box 168
Castries, St. Lucia
West Indies
Tel: (758) 455 7000
Fax: (758) 453 1630
Rodney Bay Sub Branch
J.Q.’s Mall
Rodney Bay, Gros Islet
Tel: (758) 452 8882/3
Fax: (758) 452 8884
Vieux-Fort Sub Branch
P. O. Box 342
Commercial Street, Vieux Fort
Tel: (758) 454 6213
Fax: (758) 454 6137

Marigot Bay Sub Branch
Marina Village
Marigot Bay, Castries
Tel: (758) 458 3744
Fax: (758) 458 3638
Choc Bay Sub Branch
Mercury Court
Choc Bay, Castries
Tel: (758) 455 7042
Fax: (758) 453 0943
Rodney Bay Marina Branch
Rodney Bay Marina, Gros Islet
Tel: (758) 455 7050/1
Fax: (758) 458 4982
Bureau de Change
George F.L. Charles Airport
Vigie, Castries
Tel: (758) 453 1683
Fax: (758) 451 8482
SWIFT: LUOBLCLC

Email: manager@1stnationalbankslu.com
Website: www.1stnationalbankonline.com

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Nigel A. Fulgence,
President & Chairperson
Christian Husbands,
1st Vice President
Brenda Floissac-Fleming,
2nd Vice President
Johnson Cenac
Tedburt Theobalds
Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel
Adrian Augier
Richard Monplaisir
Martin Satney
Jennifer Remy
Aurea Lafeuillee
Managing Director (Ag.)
Henri-Jacques Mangal
Corporate Secretary & Legal Officer
SOLICITORS
Floissac, Fleming & Associates
AUDITOR
KPMG Eastern Caribbean
REGULATOR
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank
Financial Sector Regulatory Authority

AFFILIATIONS
Caribbean Credit Card Corporation (CCCC)
Eastern Caribbean Home Mortgage (ECHMB)
Caribbean Association of Banks (CAB)
Eastern Caribbean Institute of Banking (ECIB)
Caribbean Association of Audit Committee Members Inc. (CAACM)		
St. Lucia Chamber of Commerce, Industry and Agriculture
Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange (ECSE)
St. Lucia Employers Federation
St. Lucia Hotel & Tourism Association (SLHTA)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
					
Restated
2016
2015
2014
2013
2012
$ ‘ 000
$ ‘ 000
$ ‘ 000
$ ‘ 000
$ ‘ 000
Operating results					
Gross income
38,822
40,055
42,165
40,168
42,769
Interest income
29,340
30,976
34,796
32,759
34,604
Interest expense
10,557
12,374
14,055
13,737
14,023
Net interest income
18,783
18,602
20,742
19,022
20,581
Other income
9,481
9,079
7,369
7,410
8,165
Other operating expenses
17,241
17,274
16,841
16,606
15,435
After tax income
1,457
1,028
481
(218)
2,695
					
Balance sheet data					
Customer deposits
540,515
506,388
470,299
432,383
402,328
Common shareholder equity
7,971
7,971
7,971
7,971
7,971
Total shareholder equity
77,289
76,006
75,185
74,838
77,099
Total Assets
626,269
588,367
551,458
511,727
485,038
Common shares issued & paid (‘000)
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
					
Performance
$
$
$
$
$
Dividends Declared
0.11
0.10
0.00
0.00
0.40
Earnings per share
0.29
0.21
0.10
(0.04)
0.54
Book Value
15.46
15.20
15.04
14.97
15.42
					
Return on average assets
0.24%
0.18%
0.09%
-0.04%
0.55%
Return on average equity
1.90%
1.36%
0.64%
-0.29%
3.51%
Net Interest Margin
3.09%
3.26%
3.90%
3.82%
4.24%
Productivity
61.0%
62.4%
59.9%
62.8%
53.7%
Average # of employees
138
126
125
122
112
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’
REPORT
the past we had adopted a responsible
strategy which consisted of growing
revenue, managing expenses and risks
and investing in our workforce and our
capabilities. We were also very prudent
in retaining some of our earnings on a
consistent basis over the last decade,
as it is this retained earnings that we
were able to seek the approval of
shareholders and the ECCB to allocate
to share capital pending the floating of
new shares.

Dear Shareholder:
1st National Bank is acutely aware that
we function in a dynamic environment
which is significantly influenced by
unexpected events around the world.
Across the globe, people’s priorities are
shifting. They are constantly reassessing
the organizations and institutions that
serve them and whom they trust. Our
customers therefore, have high and
constantly shifting expectations and as
such, effectively meeting those needs
begins with understanding what our
customers care about most.
To do so, we have to be a part of the
conversation around the questions that
matter to the household as well as the
small and the large businesses. It is
therefore important that we communicate
clearly to our customers that their
challenges are our challenges, and that
we are committed to helping address
them. We are at this stage, redefining
our strategy so as to communicate to
all current and potential customers that
we are here to help people control their
spending, grow their savings, borrow
smartly and manage their investment
wisely. For after all, this is the very reason
that our fore fathers sought to establish
this institution some 79 years ago.
In addition to the changing needs of
our customers we have also seen the

During 2016, we also experienced the
unfortunate passing of our Managing
Director Mr Andy Delmar. This incident
not only tested our resolve but also
forced us all to dig deep and deliver
for we all know that Mr Delmar would
expect nothing less. We continue to
commiserate with his family, loved ones
and colleagues as they continue to
grapple with his untimely passing.
introduction of a new banking act crafted
to support an increasingly stringent
regulatory environment. This has and
will continue to impact our operations,
especially the cost and ease of doing
business. In a short period of less than
one year, the Eastern Caribbean Central
Bank (ECCB) mandated that all Banking
institutions in the Eastern Caribbean
Currency Union (ECCU) increase their
minimum share capital from EC$8 million
to EC$20 million. We are fortunate that in

This past year, though very challenging
was also rewarding. We saw the benefits
of remaining nimble, adapting to change
in the near term, while adhering to
our long-term strategy to support our
customers and clients and deliver for
our shareholders. I am pleased to report
that our net income increased by $0.43
million, over the same period last year.
In addition to growing our revenue, we
also made steady progress relative to
our long-term financial goals, measured
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT cont’d
by return on equity of 1.92% and
a return on assets of 0.06%.
Tangible book value per share,
which measures the value we
are creating for you, increased
from $15.20 in 2016 to $15.46
in 2017.
Our positive operating results
were driven by the success of
138 employees as they put into
practice the principle that “We’re
there for our customers”. The
staff of the Bank delivered good
performance despite slower than
expected economic growth in
the latter half of the year, while
advancing the integration of a
number of strategic goals we
established in 2013.The result is a
natural symmetry, because as we built
productive relationships with customers,
we were able to build long-term value
for our shareholders and build on our
promise to our staff, that if 1st National
Bank does well, we all do well. We are
indeed proud to state that whilst most
of our competitors have and continue
to retrench staff we have retained
existing staff. This is a testimony of our
commitment to our staff and the national
economy.
Fellow shareholders, while the world
economy faces some immediate
challenges, the keys to the opulence
and growth of 1st National Bank are not
lost. In 2016, we know that we’ve helped
our customers navigate a world of
persistent change while managing some
major changes of our own. We stayed

$.43M

2016 net income increase

We are currently
undertaking specific
actions aimed
at productivity
improvements
and strengthening
customer
advocacy, that is,
the willingness of
our customers to
recommend “1st
National Bank” as
the “1st Choice”.

true to our objectives of giving
customers value and hope.
Therefore, we are confident that
there is abundant opportunity
to enhance the customer
experience and improve the
bottom line.

In 2017, we will continue to
drive the Bank to achieve
our strategic objectives. We
are
currently
undertaking
specific actions aimed at
productivity
improvements
and
strengthening customer
advocacy, that is, the willingness
of our customers to recommend
“1st National Bank” as the “1st
Choice”. Let me assure you that
there will be no compromise when it
comes to understanding and responding
effectively and in a timely manner to
our customers, for after all our success
as a business depends entirely on the
success of our customers.
I thank you, my fellow Directors for
bringing your passion, intellect, insight
and experience to the table. I look
forward to the continued opportunity to
work with you to grow this organisation
in a manner which is consistent with our
mission and guiding principles.

Nigel Fulgence
Chairman, Board of Directors
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BOARD & BOARD COMMITTEE
MEETINGS 2016
With the ever changing nature of the banking industry, the Board and Board Committees met frequently during
the 2016 financial year. Subsequent to the Annual Meeting held on May 24th 2016, Board Committees were
restructured in June 2016. The table below illustrates the attendance for the various meetings held during the
financial year.

DIRECTORS ATTENDANCE – 2016							
BOARD & COMMITTEE MEETINGS
						

		
			
BOARD FINANCE
HUMAN
AUDIT
CREDIT
CORP.
BOARD
SPECIAL
			
RESOURCE		
RISK
GOVERNANCE
SEMINAR
COMMITTEE
							
SESSIONS OPERATIONAL
								EFFECIENCY
DIRECTORS
MEETINGS HELD
15

4
5
6
8
		
				
MEETINGS ATTENDED

2

1

2

SPECIAL
BUILDING

1

Charmaine Gardner*
6
1
4
1
Nigel Fulgence
15
1
6
8
2
1
Brenda Floissac-Fleming
12
1
7
2
1
Christian Husbands
14
1
5
1
2
1
2
Johnson Cenac
12
4
6
7
1
Tedburt Theobalds
15
6
8
1
1
Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel
10
3
6
3
1
1
V. Adrian Augier
10
2
2
1
1
Richard Monplaisir
14
4
3
1
1
Martin Satney
14
3
2
1
Andy Delmar
6
1
2
2
3
1
1
Jennifer Remy
7
4
1
Aurea Lafeuillee
6
3
3
3
1
1
										
*Dr. Charmaine Gardner retired on May 24, 2016

BOARD CHANGES

As is customary, three Directors retired
by rotation at the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders held on May 24th 2016.
Mr. Christian Husbands and Mrs. Brenda
Floissac-Fleming were re-elected to the
Board

by

acclamation.

Dr.

Charmaine

Gardner, the Bank’s first female Chairperson
and President, who also retired by rotation,
did

not

seek

re-election.

The

Board

expresses its gratitude for the indelible mark
that she has left on the institution, and wish
her the best in her future endeavors.

Ms. Jennifer A. Remy, was elected to serve

On the 17th of July 2016, the 1st National

for a three year term at the Annual Meeting

Bank family mourned the passing of the

of Shareholders. From 1983 to present, Ms.

Bank’s Managing Director Mr. Andy Delmar

Remy has been the head of the law firm,

who was tragically killed in a motor vehicular

Jennifer A. Remy & Associates during which

accident. In his short time with the Bank,

time she served as President of the St. Lucia

Mr. Delmar rejuvenated the institution, and

Bar Association and also as a Magistrate

took the Bank to new heights. His untimely

prior to her appointment as a High Court

passing left a void at 1st National Bank and

Judge in 2009. She retired from the Bench

in the wider Banking industry. Ms. Aurea

in 2013 having reached retirement age. Ms.

Lafeuillee was appointed to act as Managing

Remy is still in private practice, and serves

Director on 18th July, 2016.

as a Court appointed mediator and is on the
Roster of Mediators.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Nigel A. Fulgence
President

Christian Husbands
1st Vice President

Brenda Floissac-Fleming
2nd Vice President

Johnson Cenac
Director

Tedburt Theobalds
Director

Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel
Director
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

V. Adrian Augier
Director

Richard Monplaisir
Director

Jennifer Remy
Director

Aurea Lafeuillee
Managing Director (Acting)

Martin Satney
Director
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ACTING MANAGING
DIRECTOR’S REPORT
affording customers easy access
to their funds. For our customers
whose preference it is to bank
electronically, planned initiatives
are ongoing to ensure that funds
are secure and that transactions
are efficient. Confidence in our
brand and customer loyalty have
spurred the growth in customer
deposits of 7% over 2015.

Now in its 79th year of operation,
1st National Bank has made
good progress in delivering
on its strategic initiatives to its
stakeholders. The Bank’s balance
sheet demonstrated growth year
on year and it is anticipated that
this trend will continue. At the end
of the financial year ended 2016,
total assets grew by 6% over last
year. The Tier 1 capital adequacy
ratio was strong at 18.5%. Net
profit was $1.45 million for the
year, increasing by 42% over last
year. These numbers demonstrate
the Bank’s soundness as well as
positive progress.
The challenges experienced in
2016 were many, chief among them
being deliberate and aggressive
tactics by financial institutions to
compete for customers in a liquid
market. The Bank lost a world class
leader in Andy Delmar, its Managing
Director from January 2014 to July 2016,
causing some turmoil. The impact of
“Brexit” during 2016 threaten. growth of
world economies and had some impact
on our operations.
Our legacy of caring for people
manifests itself in our customer service
delivery initiatives, the management of
our people to deliver on this premise,
creating wealth for our shareholders and

managing perception and expectations
of the general public.
During 2016, several training programs
were undertaken to deliver excellence
throughout the Bank. As a result, the
total cost of training increased by 35%
from $0.17 million.
The delivery of excellent customer
service remains a priority for the Bank. It
is for this very reason that the Bank has
maintained its network of branches and
improved its electronic banking platform,

The management of risk is also a
priority for the Bank and in 2016,
Yellow Hammer software was
successfully implemented to assist
with pre-risking, re-risking and derisking our portfolio. In terms of
credit risk, we are pleased to report
a reduction in the non-performing
loan and advances portfolio when
compared to the total portfolio.
Despite the inadequacy of the
current foreclosure legislation,
the non-performing loan ratio declined
from 16.7% in 2015 to 15.6%
in 2016.
To mitigate operational risk, several
policies and procedures were reviewed
and implemented and new policies were
developed during the year. Operational
risk arises from day to day transactions
relating to either inadequate processes
or non-adherence to existing ones.
There were no material instances to
report on for 2016.
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The market was very liquid during the
year and this triggered an aggressive
rate war, the likes of which has not been
previously experienced. The Bank was
very liquid during the year, as is evident
in the liquidity ratio of 72% at year end.
The Bank considers its corporate
citizenry role as a partnership with
the organizations and communities
it supports, building on growth and
change to the benefit of our country.
Sponsorship of education, health, the
elderly, the arts and sports activities are
a natural fit with our citizenry program.
The cornerstone of our business is
caring for people and if it is done well,
opportunities to grow the Bank follow.
The Bank has embarked upon cost
reduction initiatives in its response
to contracting revenue from interest
income. The full impact of the initiatives is
expected during the medium term. One
of the key initiatives is the functional cooperation initiative to achieve efficiencies
and synergies with the Grenada Cooperative Bank, which commenced
during the last quarter of 2016. The key
outcomes of this initiative are to improve
the branch business model, improve the
credit origination process and improve
and integrate information technology
requirements of both banks.
While our strategic actions are improving
our brand, the Bank is adapting to the
social and technological trends that
are shaping how business is done.
Having first introduced mobile banking
in St. Lucia, the Bank is continuing with
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The Bank is
adapting to social
and technological
trends that are
shaping how
business is done.

leaders in 2016. Draft legislation for
the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union
(ECCU) Credit Bureau is due to be
presented for approval by the Monetary
Council during the first quarter of 2017.
The establishment of a Deposit Insurance
Fund to protect customer deposits is
expected during 2018; the operational
aspects have not been concluded.

initiatives to ensure that its customers
are using the latest technology to safely
access their funds.

Every member of staff contributed to
the achievement of this year’s results.
I wish to thank them profusely for
their support and to entreat them to
continue to live the vision of the Bank.
To the Board of Directors, customers,
shareholders and the general public,
I thank you for your feedback as we
strive to build on our vision of being a
leading bank in the region.

Looking forward, we plan to increase
the number of products available to
our customers and the general public.
Additionally, as part of our customer
relationship management program, we
plan to pay closer attention to what
our customers want as we continue to
provide them with solutions to make it
easier from them to do business.
It is anticipated that protectionist
measures may increase trade barriers,
which may have a negative impact on
the growth of the world economies and
certainly on our local economy. The
International Monetary Fund (IMF) has
forecasted global growth of 3.4% for
2017 and 3.6% for 2018. The advanced
economies are expected to pick up
pace which should positively impact
the growth of St. Lucia’s economy,
principally through its tourism sector. The
Bank plans to be visible in its support of
this growth.
It is also expected that regulatory change
will result from changes in Government

Aurea Lafeuillee
Managing Director (Acting)
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Aurea Lafeuillee
Managing Director
(Acting)

Denise Holden-Pierre
Executive Manager,
Internal Audit

Robert Fevrier
Executive Manager,
Marketing &
Public Relations

Clarette Auguste-Taylor
Executive Manager, Risk,
Compliance, Recoveries
& Securities

Valery Marshall-St.Omer
Executive Manager,
Human Resource,
Organizational Development
& Client Support

Henri-Jacques Mangal
Corporate Secretary
& Legal Officer

Sylvia Alcee
Executive Manager,
Client Services

Chermaine Emmanuel
Executive Manager,
Finance & Research
(Acting)
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1st National Bank Management Team
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MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
& ANALYSIS
Despite the continued challenges
of stiff competition for quality loans,
lower interest rate margins and limited
investment opportunities, 1st National
Bank was able to report a profit for the
financial year ending December 2016.
Profit before tax increased by 44%
over 2015. This increase was driven by
increases in other operating income and
lower cost of funds. Operating expenses
for the financial year were marginally in
line with that recorded for 2015.

Table 1: Financial Performance of
1st National Bank
Total Net Income
Other operating expenses
Profit before impairment losses
Impairment losses
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense
Profit after tax
Earnings per share
Tier 1 ratio
Table 2: Revenue

Loans and advances
Deposits with banks
Investment securities
Commission and other income
Foreign exchange
Loss on disposal of property & equipment
Gain on disposal of investment
Fee income
Dividend income
Total

These results demonstrate continued
efforts at cost containment and
the generation of other revenue
opportunities. Notwithstanding the very
competitive market, the Bank’s strategy
to competitively manage cost of funding
resulted in a 15% decline in interest
expense, contributing significantly to a
1% growth in net interest income and
2% in total net income when compared
to 2015.

31-Dec-16
$’000

31-Dec-15
$’000

Variance
%

28,265
(17,241)
11,024
(9,380)
1,644
(187)
1,457
$0.29
18%

27,681
(17,274)
10,407
(9,267)
1,139
(112)
1,027
$0.21
19%

2%
0%
6%
1%
44%
67%
42%

31-Dec-16
$’000

31-Dec-15
$’000

Variance
%

25,685
32
3,623
5,568
3,240
(328)
10
871
121
38,822

27,853
6
3,117
5,146
2,889
962
83
40,055

-8%
442%
16%
8%
12%

-9%
46%
-3%

44%
Profit before tax increased
by 44% over 2015

Revenue

Total revenue decreased by 3%, from
$40.1 million in 2015 to $38.8 million
in 2016. This adverse performance
was mainly attributed to a $2.1 million
reduction in interest on loans and
advances due to a lower weighted
average interest rate and loan volume.
Fee income also decreased by 9%
primarily because of a decrease in bad
debts collections, a stark reminder of
the challenges in converting foreclosed
properties within a reasonable time. A
net loss on disposal of assets of $0.33
million was also recorded, which
mainly resulted from a fixed assets
verification exercise undertaken by
the Bank. However, these adverse
variances were offset by increases in
the following areas:
• Investment income increased by
16% against prior year due to an
increase of $18 million in the total
investment portfolio. This increase
comes amidst the challenges of
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declining interest rates in a very liquid
market. Although there is a need to
convert liquid non-interest bearing
assets, management continues
to exercise caution in placing
investments in what was previously
considered safe instruments.
•

Commission and other income
recorded an 8% growth mainly from
increases in commission on credit
and debit cards, in keeping with the
Bank’s revenue growth strategy. To
date, a steady growth in transaction
volumes and number of cards has
been recorded.

•

Foreign exchange recorded a
12% increase against 2015. This
revenue stream derives from the
strategic positioning of two (2) of our
branches, thus maximizing revenue
opportunities.

Investment income
increased by 16%
against prior year.
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Expenses

Interest Expense and
Similar Charges
The Bank’s strategy to manage the
cost of deposits, coupled with the full
effect of the new minimum savings rate
announced by the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank (ECCB) during 2015, have
resulted in a significant decrease in
interest expense of 15% or $1.8 million.
This favourable result significantly
cushioned the decline in loan interest
income to return a marginal 1% increase
in net interest income.
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Other Operating Expenses
During the year, the movement on total
operating expenses before impairment
losses was negligible when compared to
prior year. This result was mainly driven
by decreases in administrative, rent and
depreciation expenses, offset by an
increase in staff costs.
Over the last five (5) years, the Bank
recorded a constant increase in other
operating expenses until 2016, where
a marginal negative growth was
recorded. In response to the challenges
with growing the credit portfolio, cost

efficiency initiatives were pursued,
including seeking synergies with another
regional bank.
Administrative expenses declined by 1%
over the prior year primarily because of
decreases in advertising, professional
fees, postage, telephone and telexes.
This was partially offset by increases in
card and computer related expenses.
These decreases resulted from nonrecurring expenses as well as cost
reduction strategies.

$1.8M
15% decrease in
interest expense

1%
Increase in Net
Interest Income

1st National Bank Annual Report 2016

24
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS cont’d

The Bank’s commitment to empower
and build staff capability to achieve its
strategic objectives, resulted in a 35%
increase in costs for training, seminars
and conferences.

Allowances for impairment

The Bank made a significant allowance
for impairment of loans and advances of
$9.4 million, representing a 1% increase
over 2015. The total allowances for
impairment comprises 38% of the nonperforming loan portfolio (40% - 2015).
An aggressive approach at loan recovery
was maintained throughout the year.

The Bank’s
commitment to
empower and build
staff capability to
achieve its strategic
objectives, resulted
in a 35% increase
in costs for training,
seminars and
conferences.
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6%
Asset growth

Balance Sheet

We are pleased to report that the Bank
recorded asset growth of 6% for the
year ended December 2016, surpassing
its projected asset growth of 3%. Total
assets stood at $626 million, compared
to $588 million recorded last year. The
main component driving this increase
was strong growth in customer deposits,
demonstrating customer confidence
and the strength of the 1st National Bank
brand.
Cash and Due from Banks
The balances held with ECCB and due
from banks increased by 40% and
22% respectively over 2015. These
increases are due in part to the increase
in customer deposits, and limited loan
and investment options arising from a
very liquid market. The excess funds
are generally held with the originating
banks, predominantly with the Bank of
New York.
Investments
The market’s high liquidity presented
its fair share of challenges in securing
good investments at reasonable rates

of return. In keeping with our investment
strategy, the portfolio grew by 22% over
2015. No allowances for impairment
were made against the portfolio during
the year, principally because cash flows

were received as agreed. At year end,
85% of the portfolio will mature within
one (1) year and 31% of the portfolio
matures within three (3) months.
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•

Treasury Bills increased by a net of
10% with new investments in the G
overnments of St. Lucia and Antigua
& Barbuda. At year end, the Bank
held investments in Governments
of St. Lucia, St. Vincent & the
Grenadines and Antigua & Barbuda.
The weighted average interest rate
on these Treasury Bills was 3.88%,
a decline from 4.82% for 2015.

•

Loans and advances to financial
institutions
comprise
reverse
repurchase
agreements.
The
category increased by 39%
during the year because of new
investments in the Government
of Trinidad & Tobago (Rated A- by
Standard & Poors). The weighted
average interest rate of this class
of investment has also declined to
2.32%, from 2.89% in 2015.

•

Available for sale investments
decreased by a net of 6% mainly as a
result of scheduled and unscheduled
repayments of principal. This was
offset by additional investments
in the existing portfolio and the
increase in price of a publicly traded
security. The weighted average
effective interest rate on available
for sale investments also declined to
6.22% from 6.57% in 2015.

•

Held to maturity portfolio increased
by 38% from 2015 due to additions
in the Government of St. Lucia and
ECHMB portfolio. The weighted
average effective interest rate on this
category of investments increased
to 4.97% from 4.92% in 2015.
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Loans and advances to customers
The loans and advances portfolio
recorded negative growth for the second
successive year, registering a net decline
of 3% against 2015. The decline is
mainly attributable to loans written off
totaling $10.9 million for 2016. The
Bank continues to manage challenges
from stiff competition and the nonperforming portfolio. Notwithstanding
these challenges, efforts are geared
at implementing policy guidelines to
improve the quality of new loans added to
the portfolio. Additionally, the Recoveries
Unit works assiduously to reduce the
non-performing loan portfolio to more
acceptable levels. It is heartening to
note that some success was achieved.
At year end, 80% of loans and advances
received a pass rating, up from 79%
in 2015. The non-performing loan and
advances ratio was 15.6% compared to
16.7% for 2015.
Property and Equipment
The net book value of property and
equipment decreased by 8% from 2015,
due mainly to depreciation. Another
reason for the reduction in the net book
value arose from the disposal of assets
subsequent to an asset verification
exercise which was undertaken during
the year. The net book value of those
items was $0.29 million and charged
as a loss on disposal. Other disposals
during the year were conducted in
the normal course of operations
and resulted in a gain on disposal of
approximately $0.01 million.
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The Bank spent $0.41 million in
acquiring new property and equipment.
Of this amount, $0.17 million was spent
on computers, printers and scanners
and upgrading the current equipment to
improve efficiencies. $0.06 million was
also spent availing card machines to our
merchants and enhancing the security
of card services. Renovations to the
Castries building were also carried out
at a cost of $0.05 million.
Intangible Assets
The movement on intangible assets was
due to amortization and like property
and equipment, there were write offs
from the verification exercise. A net
book value of $0.05 million was charged
to loss on disposal for items written off
which were no longer in use.
Income tax recoverable
The tax recoverable is the balance
brought forward from 2015 less the tax
charge for the year. The charge for the
year was reduced by the decrease in
the deferred tax liability as a result of the
losses on disposal.
Other assets
This asset category grew principally
because of amounts receivable from
Caribbean Credit Card Corporation
(4C’s) for credit card activities at the end
of the reporting period.
Customer Deposits
Customer deposits increased by
7% over the last audited position at
December 2015, thus continuing a
steady growth trajectory. This trend is
spurred by our deliberate strategy to
grow the deposit portfolio.

Equity
Capital and reserves increased by 2%
from 2015, mainly because of the net
profit of $1.4 million and an increase
in the market value of available for sale
investments of $0.28 million offset by
the dividend distribution of $0.5 million
for 2015.

Off balance sheet arrangements
The Bank has made commitments to
customers that would require cash
outflows totaling $22 million. Some of
these commitments expire without being
drawn. The amount represents the total
risk that the Bank may be exposed to in
this category.

Table 3: Achievements

Criterion
Capital adequacy - Tier 1
Provision for loan loss to non-performing loans
Cash reserves
Fixed assets to total capital
Liquid assets/deposits + short term liabilities
Total loans to deposits

ECCB minimum
requirement
8%
<10%
6%
<50%
>25%
<85%

Achievement
18%
38%
14%
17%
37%
72%
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Expectations

The Bank welcomes 2017 with great
optimism. In 2017, the focus for the Bank
will remain on its customer initiatives
more specifically, strengthening its
existing operations and reviewing
its processes and strategies to build
resilience and sustained growth for its
stakeholders. Management anticipates
that the competition for the limited
investment options, quality loans and
rate wars will be more prevalent.
However, a key mechanism to deliver
on its initiative will be the Memorandum
of Understanding between this Bank
and Grenada Co-operative Bank Ltd.
Phase 1 of the project will be completed
by July 2017 and it promises to deliver
enhanced
customer
experience,
increased efficiencies and synergies
which will translate to increased benefits
to our shareholders, customers and
employees.
The anticipated development in the
south of the island to include world
class horse racing facilities, leisure
and accommodation amenities is
expected to generate economic activity
and transform the south. The Bank is
positioning itself to capitalize on any
increased business activity and has
begun the process of relocating its Vieux
Fort branch to a more central point of
access by the end of the second quarter.
In 2017, the Bank will continue working
on compliance with Section 44 of the
new Banking Act to increase paid
up capital to $20 million through the
sale of shares. A proposal has been
presented to the Board of Directors and
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Our legacy of caring
continues to hold
true in 2017 as we
build capabilities
for our employees
and focus on
building value for
our customers that
would redound
to value for our
shareholders.

Our legacy of caring for people
continues to hold true in 2017 as we
build capabilities for our employees
and focus on building value for our
customers that would redound to value
for our shareholders.

shareholders and the target date for
completion is July 2017.

Credit risk is managed on the basis
of established credit processes and
policies operating within a framework
of delegated authorities. The credit
risk policies are reviewed periodically
by the Board of Directors to determine
the decision making process for lending
proposals. The Credit Risk Committee
has oversight of the credit risk function,
delegated to the Managing Director with
support from the Finance, Assessment
and Recoveries.

The Bank will continue to maintain
its conservative position to loan loss
provisioning. The Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank (ECCB) has made progress
with its efforts to stabilize financial
services in its member territories.
The Asset Management Corporation
has been established and work is
continuing on deposit insurance and
the development of a Credit Bureau.
These will assist with our debt recovery
strategy.
Effective risk management is essential to
the Bank’s success and thus, our efforts
at mitigating risk will be heightened,
particularly in an environment with
numerous uncertainties. As the cost of
compliance continues to increase, risk
management strategies including prerisking and de-risking strategies are
being deployed. The Bank has invested
in technology geared at assisting with
monitoring risky transactions.

Credit Risk Management

Credit risk is defined as the risk of
financial loss due to a borrower
or counterparty failing to meet its
obligations in accordance with agreed
terms and conditions. Credit risk
primarily arises from direct lending and
investment activities.

The application of the credit risk
framework is effected by adopting
the following guidelines:
1. Stringent adherence to the
requirements of the existing
Credit policies.
2. Assigning and managing delegation
of lending limits to ensure these are
relevant to the approval of all credit
applications.
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3. Credit grading and monitoring
systems to facilitate the early
identification and management of
deterioration in loan quality.
4. Implementation of provisioning
requirements to ensure adequate
provisions are raised for delinquent
loans, in accordance with ECCB
and international accounting and
financial reporting standards.
The Bank continued to pursue a threepronged approach to reduce the nonperforming loans and advances (NPL)
ratio to an acceptable threshold. This
ratio has declined further to 15.6% for
the financial year ended 31 December
2016, down from 16.7% in 2015. The
current risk management strategy will be
maintained to reduce the NPL ratio to
within the regulatory requirement of 5%,
in the medium term.
Having achieved a ratio of 16.7%
against a target of 17.5% in 2015, the
Recoveries Unit relentlessly pressed
ahead to achieve a further reduction of
the non-performing loan and advances
ratio (NPL) ratio for the year 2016.
The following initiatives were
implemented to assist in attaining
that target:
1. Remove older loans from
the Portfolio
Our strategy to achieve this
was to write off any and all nonproductive or abandoned loans.
Whilst these loans have been
written off, the Bank has deployed
several initiatives to recover these
loans including strengthening
the debt recovery team. Plans
have significantly progressed to

implement the outsourcing of a
selected unsecured portion of
the debts written off portfolio.
The Recoveries Unit worked
assiduously to attain the target set.
However, the Unit’s success was
hampered by the closure of the
Registry for an extended period,
the staffing issues at the Registry
and depressed market conditions
causing lack of interest in the
properties for sale.
2. Reliance on Achievement of Growth
in the Credit Portfolio
The Bank established a three
pronged approach as part of the
Non-performing Loan Strategy
in 2016. One such pillar was to
achieve a 5% growth in the credit
portfolio by booking quality loans.
This achievement would assist in
the reduction of the NPL ratio.|
3. Restructuring of NPL
The Recoveries Unit sought to
restructure non-performing loans
which met the ECCB requirements
and were within the Bank’s policy
and guidelines. The Team was
able to rehabilitate loans which had
proved to be difficult in the past.
4. Compromise Settlements
2016 proved to be tumultuous for
some customers. It was a time
when some experienced severe
difficulty with loan payments for
various reasons such as job losses,
closure of businesses, reduction
in household salaries as a result
of a breakdown in common
law relationships and loss of life
and an increase in household
commitments due to unforeseen

medical emergencies.
Based on the above, the
Recoveries Unit engaged
customers where necessary and
accepted or offered compromise
settlements on non-performing
loans on a case by case basis.
5. Sale of Security
There was a deliberate and
aggressive move to advertise
encumbered properties on nonaccrual loans for both private and
public sales. These properties
were advertised in the Gazette
and in all local newspapers. In
order to encourage these sales
the Recoveries Unit was available
to customers wanting to view
these properties at various times
and dates. The efforts of the team
are hampered by the current
foreclosure legislation, which is
now receiving attention by the new
government.
6. Live loan monitoring
The Bank vigorously pursued
delinquent customers to stem the
flow of live loans into the nonperforming category. Through
increased monitoring and
implementing various strategies the
unit was able to experience some
success.
We recognize that the growth in the
credit portfolio did not materialize as
expected and that had a major impact
on our NPL ratio.
However, our
records reveal that through the rigorous
management of accounts, the Bank was
still able to record a slight reduction in
the NPL portfolio.
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Stress Testing

Quarterly stress tests are performed on
the investment, loans and advances
portfolios in accordance with guidelines
given by ECCB. These tests monitor the
effect of provisioning on capital and are
reported to the Board quarterly.

Capital Management

The Bank’s capital is managed in
accordance with its Capital Preservation
Plan. The Plan is reviewed annually by the
Board of Directors. The capital adequacy
ratio is a measure of the soundness by
some analysts. The Bank’s Tier 1 capital
adequacy ratio is currently at 18%, and
it is well above the current minimum
of 10% required by ECCB. The strong
capital adequacy ratio will place the
Bank in a fair position if the impending
ECCB prudential guidelines are modified
for implementation, thus cushioning any
losses that may be incurred.

Liquidity Management

The Board of Directors has oversight
of liquidity risk, guided by the Liquidity
Policy. The Managing Director has overall
accountability for liquidity risk, supported
by the Finance Department. The Bank’s
liquidity position is managed to ensure
that funds are available to meet its
liabilities as they fall due. Daily and weekly
monitoring of the position is undertaken
to ensure that the Bank can adjust to its
liquidity situations as required.

Audit

The Bank is audited annually by one of
the largest firms of auditors. To give
further assurance, the Bank has an
Internal Audit Department which provides
independent and objective assessments
of risk at the Bank. The Audit Committee
has oversight of the control systems in
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place to give the Board assurance of
the Bank’s Management of Risk and
Compliance. Management officials do
not attend meetings of Audit Committee
and can only do so by invitation.
The Internal Audit Department continued
to implement the Control Deficiencies
Policy. In this policy, all the issues noted
in the Internal Audit Reports, External
Auditor’s Management Letter, and any
other audit are logged and monitored
until the deficiency has been addressed.
The Bank has planned to fully automate
its processes over the short to medium
term. There will be further Information
Technology (IT) changes as part of the
Functional Co-operation with Grenada
Co-operative Bank. The Internal Audit
Department has planned for training in
IT Auditing and IT Security in readiness
for these changes. It is expected that
by the end of the first quarter in 2017,
one member of the Department will have
commenced the Certified Information
Systems Auditor (CISA) exams, the official
qualification for professional IT Auditors.
It is very important that the Internal Audit
team has a good understanding of these
risks, so that the relevant controls can be
thoroughly tested.

Compliance

The current regulatory environment is
clearly placing increased pressure on
financial institutions not just to meet
current compliance regulations but also
to focus on the upcoming changes in
the industry.
In the past, know your customer (KYC)
checks only required routine checks on
new customers. The proceedings of
9/11, the globalization of the banking

industry and the financial crisis of 2007
halted this fairly comfortable approach.
Unfortunately, banks and their customers
are finding KYC requirements complex
and onerous. In the short term, banks
envisage that these complex compliance
issues will not go away but only intensify
as the industry continues to grapple with
the many challenges involved.
The cost of KYC compliance is high
and it continues to rise significantly. The
costs for attendance at conferences,
certification of our employees, continuous
monitoring of customers and their
transactions, software implementation
to assist with monitoring and control,
increase sharply as more frequent and
structured document refresh processes
and procedures are implemented.
Our approach has been to systematically
build our defences against Money
Laundering and Terrorism Financing.
In December 2015, we joined the
World Check, Thomson Reuters family
which allows us to instantly check any
customer for KYC purposes.
The Bank has undertaken initiatives to
ensure that its processes are robust. In
May 2016, the Bank made certain that its
Executive Manager, Risk & Compliance
obtained certification in Anti-Money
Laundering. In September 2016, the
Bank embarked on the installation of
an automated Anti-Money Laundering
platform called Yellow Hammer BSA.
As a result, this has afforded the Bank
the ability to have automated data
monitoring, recordkeeping, and reporting
thus eliminating the error-prone manual
compliance process. The programme
allows for the automation of the
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customer due diligence required at onboarding and it also assigns a risk rating
to each customer based on responses
to specific questions. The profiling of
our existing customers, performing peer
group analyses, maintaining research
analyst notes and actions and the
generation of management and auditor
reports are other key functions.
The Compliance Unit undertook to
train all staff and the Board of Directors
annually in keeping with regulatory
requirements. Further, the Bank is
actively pursuing automated online
training for all employees.
The Bank has from time to time reviewed
the portfolio and has found it necessary
to exit toxic relationships which pose a
heightened risk to the organization. To
date some ten (10) relationships have
been terminated.
The Bank continues to ensure that risk
is mitigated through the robust review
of policies and procedures. For the
year 2016, seventeen (17) policies and
procedures were reviewed.
The Bank became a registered Financial
Institution under the Foreign Account
Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) and as
such we were due to report to our
designated local competent authority
(The Inland Revenue Department, Saint
Lucia) for the years 2014 and 2015 by
September 16, 2016. Despite numerous
challenges and setbacks, the Bank
was able to successfully identify the
customers who were required to be
reported to the IRD and the information
was effectively uploaded via the portal
by the designated date.

Customer Service
Delivery

Excellent customer experience and
service delivery is critical to the survival
of any organization and remains
a priority at 1st National Bank, for
continued growth and long term
sustainability. During the financial year,
the client services team focused on
providing exceptional customer service
and convenient banking to our valuable
customers through various channels.
Our Saturday banking continues to
provide us with a competitive edge, by
providing exceptional Saturday service
at our Vieux-Fort, Marigot, Choc, JQ’s
Mall and Rodney Bay Marina Branches,
in addition to the Bureau de Change
at the George F.L Charles Airport. Our
team of competent committed staff
understand the value of that service, not
only to customers but also to our Bank.
This supports our strategy to grow our
customer base by delivering our services
to customers throughout the country.
The Bank recognizes that customer
feedback is an essential component
of our service monitoring strategy. In
addition to providing the means for our
Bank to listen to our customers on a
regular basis, the surveys are important
as they provide a platform to enhance
service delivery at both the external and
internal customer levels.
We continue to meet the financial needs
of our customers through targeted
sales and quick turnaround time. Our
attractive loan promotions including
1st Wheels and 1st Future, designed for
young St. Lucians, continue to receive
positive publicity.

During the latter part of 2016, the Bank
undertook initiatives to focus on organic
growth that will help us segment the
customer portfolio and develop capability
to analyse our customer needs to better
serve them. Further investments will
be made in acquiring state of the art
technology to offer solutions that will
redound to reliable service channels
with the specific intent to further improve
customer experience. It is for this reason
therefore, that the Client Service Team at
1st National Bank will remain focused on
providing quick, reliable and convenient
banking to our valuable customers.
Finally and very importantly, we recognize
that merely touting that our service
is second to none can only remain
true if we continue to ensure that our
employees are exceptionally competent
and highly energized to provide our
brand of world class service. As a result,
we focused on training our employees
to continue to deliver our trade mark
service, and to reward the providers of
the service to ensure that they remain
motivated to continue to excel. Our staff
are encouraged to maintain very high
standards in order to deliver excellent
customer service consistently to ensure
that customers have a great experience.
During 2016, 1st National Bank invested
in IT systems to mitigate disruption in
customer service to minimize reputational
risk. The CCTV network was improved
to ensure activities in and around the
premises are captured at a high quality.
The Choc Branch was retrofitted with
LED lighting to reduce electricity costs
and improve the working conditions for
customers and staff.
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•

•

•

There was also investment in systems
that will progressively transition the Bank
to a paperless environment by reducing
printing of cheques and voucher
statements, making these documents
available online for our customers. This is
a significant value added improvement to
the existing mobile banking platform. The
Bank continued to spend on maintaining
its premises to ensure compliance with
health and safety standards.

Human Resources

The Human Resource Department
(HRD) continues to play an instrumental
role in securing the future success of
1st National Bank. This will be achieved
by creating an environment where our
employees thrive and deliver sustainable
organizational performance. This report
identifies key activities undertaken by
the HRD to assist us in achieving these
goals. Investing in our most valuable
resource remains paramount, and in
2016, we continued to invest heavily
in staff training and development
initiatives.
Staff Training and Development
Building leadership capacity remains
a key priority, to enable our employees
to thrive and meet their true potential.
We invested in training activities for our

management and supervisory staff to
help us achieve this.
Role of the Line Manager
We collaborated with HR Wise to provide
training for our supervisory staff, to enable
them to have a better understanding of
their roles. The program was a one-day
workshop which focused on the evolution
of Human Resource Management and
defined the role of the Line Manager
in today’s business environment. The
program also defined the strategic
alignment between the Line Manager’s
role
and
organizational
success.
Participants were educated on the many
benefits of effective people management
and how they can be achieved.
Communication and Building Trust
Celestial Self Development Centre
facilitated a workshop on Communication
and Building Trust. The targeted
audience was our Management Team
and the learning objectives as noted by
the facilitator were:
• To discover the basic competencies
critical to solid work relationships;
• To develop flexibility in actions,
thoughts and feelings to better
handle any situation;
• To avoid mistakes and conflicts
that may result from misinterpreting

•

others or ineffective listening;
To build self-esteem as the
participant discovers a new selfawareness;
To identify strengths, weaknesses
and opportunities in work
relationships;
To understand values, beliefs,
attitudes and perceptual processes;
and;
To master the keys to excellent
communication: observe, listen,
analyse, plan, and communicate.

Hiring, Disciplining and Dismissal
Our staff participated in a workshop
facilitated by the Employers Federation
on hiring, disciplining and dismissal.
The main objective was to provide
participants with an understanding of the
Labour Code, with a focus on ensuring
that organizations complied with the
respective regulations.
We participated in the workshop on
Assuring Attendance, also facilitated by
the St. Lucia Employers Federation. This
workshop focused on correcting and
controlling absenteeism.
Management of Credit
Canadian Securities Institute –
Personal Lending and Mortgages
Ensuring that our sales team is equipped
with the necessary skills and knowledge
to provide efficient service to our clients
is important, and it is for this reason that
we continued to enrol our lenders in the
Canadian Securities Institute’s Personal
Lending and Mortgages course.
This course provides comprehensive
coverage of consumer credit and both
standard and advanced mortgages.

1st National Bank Annual Report 2016

34
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS cont’d

Additionally, participants are exposed to
a full range of critical issues related to
loan and complex mortgage products.
We enrolled 3 lenders in the program
and they are now better able to serve
our demanding clients.
Business Opportunity for Financial
Practitioners
Three members of our management
team participated in this work shop which
was attended by persons throughout the
Eastern Caribbean Currency Union. It
focused on the importance of pursuing
the development of Small to Medium
Enterprises (SME’s) as a core growth
strategy for financial institutions. There
was also discussion on the future of digital
currencies and the potential impact of
the underlying technology platforms on
the future financial landscape.
Risk and Compliance
Compliance training is a necessary
component of our training plan. We must
educate our team members on the laws,
regulations and policies relative to their
daily roles. In 2016, we accomplished
this through a number of initiatives;
Anti-Money Laundering and Terrorist
Financing for Banking Professionals
This program enables our staff to
remain relevant in terms of Anti money
laundering techniques, as participants
are provided with information on the
basics of money laundering. Detecting
and reporting suspicious transactions
and other forms of mandatory reporting
are also part of this program.

Anti Money Laundering Certified
Associate (AMLCA)
Strengthening our AML and Compliance
department is necessary, and it is for this
reason that we sought to ensure that
the Team Leader was registered and
subsequently successfully completed
this
program.
This
achievement
demonstrates that our officer has a
broad understanding of the AML body
of knowledge. The certification is
prestigious and it is an internationally
recognized credential.
Yellow Hammer – Fraud Detector
and BSA
Yellow Hammer BSA (a Jack Henry
Product) is used to fully automate
and centralize compliance with the
Bank Secrecy Act (BSA). The Bank
implemented this system and trained
staff in its use. The system provides
data
monitoring,
recordkeeping,
and reporting to eliminate the timeconsuming and error-prone manual
compliance processes.
Cards Services
Visa online training
As we focus on growing our Card
business, we ensure that our team
members are properly trained to enable
them to deliver the required service. Visa
online courses assist organisations in
improving sales and building customer
loyalty. The courses also assist with the
management of risk. During 2016, our
Card Services officers enrolled in the
following programs:
• Boost approval rates;
• Customer Satisfaction and
profitability;
• Dispute Training;

•
•
•
•

Credit Risk management for new
and existing accounts;
Introduction to EMV chip;
Score card monitoring; and
Managing Risk for Issuers
Implementing Chip.

4CS Operational and Product
Marketing Seminar
Team members attended this annual
seminar which provided an in-depth
review of all existing, available and
supported Visa and MasterCard
products and services on the market.
In attendance were representatives
from key departments of 14 member
banks. These individuals were given
the opportunity to engage in group
sessions
while
also
addressing
possible consumer concerns faced by
cardholders. Updates on current and
upcoming implementation projects such
as 4C’s Shared Switch, MasterCard 2
Series Bin and EMV Issuer and Acquirer
were also addressed in detail.
Other Human Resource
Management Initiatives
Policy Development
In 2016, we developed a Performance
Management Policy, and also revised
the existing Performance Management
system. The policy was developed to
provide clear guidelines with respect to
the revised Performance Management
System (PMS). The PMS was revised to
ensure that all team members are fully
aware and understand the vision of the
organization, its strategic direction and
goals, and know how they contribute
to the business as a whole. The system
holds employees accountable for
the achievement of stated goals and
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objectives. The revised PMS forms
are more user- friendly, and will foster
more effective developmental appraisal
discussions. The PMS model used is
a Development Driven Model. In this
model, coaching and development
are used to improve an employee’s
performance; and encourage consistent
and thorough follow-up or feedback
sessions at regular intervals. The full roll
out will take place in January 2017.

Conclusion

2016 started off as a very exciting year
for us, as we focused on integrating
continuous improvement into our
business planning initiatives. HR played
a critical role, providing employees with
the necessary skills and training required
to enable them to deliver results despite
the challenging environment. We move
into 2017 focused on further developing
our people to ensure that we fulfil our
mandate of developing a high performing
workforce.

Corporate Social
Responsibility

1st National Bank believes in the
philosophy of giving back to the
community that has supported it for
over three quarters of a century. The
legacy of caring for people is one that
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resonates with all sectors of society, as
the Bank through its many corporate
social responsibility activities seeks to
improve the quality of life for our fellow St.
Lucians. As part of its commitment, the
Bank has established several covenants
with a number of non-governmental
agencies, non-profit organizations and
institutions. Some of these include:
• The Child Development and
Guidance Centre;
• Sickle Cell Association;
• The Holy Family Children’s Home;
• The Centre For Adolescent
Renewal and Education;
• The St. Lucia Blind Welfare
Association;
• The Salvation Army;
• The Marian Home;
• The St. Lucy’s Home for the Elderly;
and
• The National Community
Foundation.
As a result of the Bank’s benevolence,
these beneficiary organizations can
implement community outreach
programmes to further contribute to
the well-being and education of their
members.
Education
The Bank places its focus not only
on community outreach and health
programmes but also provides support
in the areas of education, youth and
sports, the arts and culture. In this
thrust, the Bank has two scholarship
programmes at the secondary and
higher tertiary education level namely,
The Ferrel Charles Secondary School
Scholarship and the Francis J. Carasco
Scholarship respectively. The Ferrel
Charles Scholarship is awarded to
two (2) primary school students who

successfully gain entry into secondary
school with excellent grades. The
Francis J. Carasco Scholarship is
awarded to a deserving young person
seeking university education. These
scholarships were established in honour
of two long serving Directors for their
outstanding contribution to this fine
institution, each of whom served as
President of the Bank.
The Bank also saw the need to provide
funds for an after school Home Work
Assistance Programme to the youth
in the Wilton’s Yard community. The
programme was endorsed by the
Ministry of Social Transformation.
Sports
The benefit of sports cannot be over
emphasized. For this reason the
Bank is proud of its 23 year unbroken
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on the rise. The Bank,
taking cognizance of
that fact, provides much
needed assistance to
the St. Lucia Swimming
Association in hosting the
Primary and Secondary
Schools Swim meet.
As with athletics many
participants such as
Siona Huxley, Runako
Daniel
and
Jordan
Augier, just to name a
few, are pursuing studies, honing their
craft and making a name for themselves
in the USA.
Arts and Culture

partnership with the St. Lucia Athletics
Association in the hosting of the 14 and
Under Track and Field Games. Through
these Games, many young athletes
have obtained scholarships to assist in
their sporting careers and educational
development. The Bank is proud of the
many athletes such as world renowned
high jumper and Olympic qualifier
Leverne Spencer, Olympian Jeanelle
Scheper, Makeiba Alcide, Sandisha
Antoine, Darvin Edward and Marbeq
Edgar who have risen to success in their
individual fields. The presence of these
Games on the sporting calendar of St.
Lucia has continued to shape and inspire
young athletes to strive for excellence.
Swimming is another sport that nurtures
every part of the body. Studies have
shown that the majority of St. Lucians
are non-swimmers and for this reason,
drowning incidents on the island are

Culture is the heartbeat of a nation and
is uniquely indigenous to a country
and its people. The desire to see our
nation’s talent flourish and overwhelm
all negativity commits the Bank to
supporting the many literary, artistic and
cultural activities on the island. The Bank
supports a broad range of activities, from
Sir Arthur Lewis Community College
Poetry Slam, to the Literary Night festival,
Community Jazz, Caribbean Youth
Festival, Police Calypso Competition,
R.C. Jam Calypso Competition, Cultural
and Kwéyòl Workshops and Carnival.

For this reason the Bank has earned the
title “Patron of the Arts”.
1st National Bank’s Corporate Social
Responsibility Programme is varied.
Accordingly, many communities and
organizations across the country benefit
from the Bank’s generosity. It is important
to note that as an indigenous financial
institution, our roots are entrenched in
the St. Lucian landscape embedded
within the community. It is for this reason
that we continue to contribute to the St.
Lucian economy.

The desire to
see our nation’s
talent flourish and
overwhelm all
negativity commits
the Bank to
supporting the many
literary, artistic and
cultural activities on
the island.
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Shareholder Information

As at December 31st 2016, the total
number of shares outstanding remained
at 4,999,966. Pursuant to section
44 of the Banking Act #3 of 2015 of
the Laws of Saint Lucia, the Bank is
mandated to increase its stated capital,
and consequently, the number of shares
held will also increase. At year end, the
total number of the Bank’s shareholders
was 1,328. Moreover, the total number
of shares transferred in 2016 was 1,501.
The members of the Board of Directors
own a combined 65,317 shares which
is the equivalent of 1.31% of the total
shareholding. Directors are elected to
the Board of Directors of the Bank every
three years. The rotation of Directors
and their terms served are illustrated in
Table 4.
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Table 4: ROTATION OF DIRECTORS IN ACCORDANCE
WITH SECTION 4.6 OF BY-LAW NO. 1 		
As at December 31st, 2016			
Name

Year of
Year of
No. of
election
Re-election
Completed
			terms
Nigel Fulgence
Brenda Floissac-Fleming
Christian Husbands
Johnson Cenac
Tedburt Theobalds
Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel
Adrian Augier
Richard Monplaisir
Martin Satney
Jennifer Remy

2000
1993
2003
2008
2008
2011
2012
2013
2015
2016

2015
2016
2016
2014
2014
2014
2015

5
7
4
2
2
1
1
1

STAFF
AWARDS

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S AWARDS
Team Spirit (Unit)
20 Risk, Compliance Recoveries & Securities
Team Spirit (individual)
22 Ms. Marlene Warner
				
Branch which surpassed targets
1 Vieux-Fort Branch
Highest Growth in Loans
2 1st Place – Rodney Bay
3 2nd Place – Choc Bay
Overall Loans Targets Surpassed
4 1st Place – Ms. Joycelyn Charlery
5 2nd Place – Ms. Mildred Benjamin
Sales Champion Award Branch
6 Vieux-Fort

CAMPAIGN AWARDS
3 Best Performer Branch – Choc Bay
Best Performer Individuals
7 1st Place – Ms. Ima Lenton
8 2nd Place – Ms. Shauna Menald
Junior Officer of the Year
9 Mr. Jason Gustave
11
12
13
14
9
15

Teller/ Customer Service Representative of the Year
Kernette Rameau – Castries Branch
Kezier Collymore – Vieux-Fort Branch
Suleimahn Charlemagne – Marigot
Hartzell Kia Biscombe – Rodney Bay
Jason Gustave – Choc Bay
Laura Gillard – Rodney Bay Marina

16
17
18
19

Long Service Award
Erlin Auguste – 15 years
Fibronia Ferdinand-Gaston –15 years
Medina Charles – 25 years
Marlene Warner – 15 years

Perfect Attendance
Malester Alphonse; Miah Auguste			
Solange Jean Charles; Kirdeem George
Erlin Auguste; Sancha John
Joy-Anne Best; Judy Joseph
Suleimahn Charlemagne; Macquay Joseph
Medina Charles; Rebecca Jules
Terry Charles; Dwain Nestor
Gino Phillip; Aloysius Daniel; Sophia Poleon
Jacqueline Daniel; Naomi Promesse-Edward
Sharlyn Davidson; Kerwin Sealy
Allana Duncan; Natacha Stava
Michael Duncan; Bridget Sutherland
Keric Duval; Owen Elwin
Fibronia Ferdinand-Gaston; Gregory Tench
Hermina Francis; Katlyn Theodore
O’b Jay Francois; Arnetta Wilson
Branch of the Year
21 Rodney Bay Marina Branch

TOP PERFORMERS FOR 2015
Allana Duncan
Solange Jean Charles
Ava St. Edward
Aqula Marcellin
Kia Biscombe
Brennan Earnest
Darren Anderson
Appreciation for Service Award
Marie Remy

STAFF AWARDS

2

3

21

16

17

7

9

12

14

15

13

18

20

Long Service Award (group photo)

5

1

4

11

19

22

8

6

PERFECT ATTENDANCE

Solange Jean Charles

Hermina Francis

Arnetta Wilson

Bridget Sutherland

Dwain Nestor

Fibronia Ferdinand-Gaston

Gino Phillip

Gregory Tench

Judy Joseph

Katlyn Theodore

Macquay Joseph

Miah Auguste

Michael Duncan

Naomi Promesse-Edward

Erlin Auguste

Jacqueline Daniel

Malesta Alphonse

Medina Charles

Natacha Stava

Owen Elwin

Sophia Poleon

Suleimahn Charlemagne

Rebecca Jules

Aloysius Daniel

Sancha John

Allana Duncan

A TRIBUTE TO ANDY DELMAR
Managing Director; 1st National Bank; 2014 – 2016

Andy Delmar was an extraordinary leader who joined 1st National
Bank in the capacity of Managing Director in January 2014,
a position which he held until July 17th, 2016 when he died
tragically as a result of a vehicular accident.
He was a highly driven and goal oriented individual, devoting his
energy and talents towards motivating others within the team,
in order to ensure that the Bank achieved its desired outcomes.
He displayed many of the qualities of a sound and progressive
leader, yet always with a sense of fairness and humility. He
created a supportive work environment where all felt challenged
and empowered. He believed that the 1st National Bank family
was indeed the organization’s biggest asset.
Andy led by example, focusing on the key elements of planning,
strategizing, prioritizing and implementing. He was a visionary with
a clear perspective on where he wanted to take the institution.
He genuinely sought input and feedback from his colleagues,
building on our existing strengths and prior accomplishments.
He relentlessly drove the team towards becoming the most
outstanding corporate citizen through service excellence.
Andy was a coach par excellence, who walked alongside and
supported his team as necessary. His two and a half years with
us was marked by an unprecedented review of existing policies,
and the articulation of new and relevant policies and procedures.
Our Bank became stronger because of him.
We at 1st National Bank were deeply saddened by the tragic and
untimely passing of Andy Delmar, and he will be remembered
as an exemplary leader, a helpful mentor and a truly exceptional
human being.

Tel: 758-452-2500
Fax: 758-452-7317
www.bdo.lc

Mercury Court
Choc Estate
P.O. Box 364
Castries
LC04 101
St. Lucia

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
The Shareholders 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited (“the Bank”),
which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016, the statements
of income, profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Bank as at December 31, 2016, and its financial performance and
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Saint Lucia, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
Emphasis of Matter
The Bank’s financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2015 were
audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on April
22, 2016.
Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

BDO Eastern Caribbean, a network of firms registered in Anguilla, Antigua and Barbuda, St. Lucia and St. Vincent and the Grenadines, is a member of BDO
International Limited, a UK company Limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.
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The Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to
cease to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

2
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We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Castries, St. Lucia
April 19, 2017

3
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The notes on pages 53 to 118 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Statement of Income
For the year ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
Note

2016
$

2015
$

Interest and similar income

24

29,340,315

30,975,513

Interest expense and similar charges

24

(10,557,017)

(12,373,543)

Net interest income
Other operating income

25

Net interest and other operating income

18,783,298

18,601,970

9,481,491

9,079,287

28,264,789

27,681,257

Other expenses

26

(17,241,095)

(17,274,346)

Impairment losses

29

(9,379,683)

(9,267,492)

1,644,011

1,139,419

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

30

Profit for the year

(187,264)

(111,833)

1,456,747

1,027,586

0.29

0.21

Earnings per share
(expressed in EC$ per share)
31

- basic

The
notes
onon
pages
5310
to to
118
The
notes
pages
75are
arean
anintegral
integralpart
partofofthese
thesefinancial
financialstatements.
statements.
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5

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
2016
$

2015
$

1,456,747

1,027,586

48,000

160,000

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Net fair value gains/(losses) on available-for-sale financial assets

279,101

(367,356)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

327,101

(207,356)

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss:
Re-measurement of defined benefit asset (Note 20):

Total comprehensive income for the year

1,783,848

820,230

The notes on pages 53 to 118 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The notes on pages 10 to 75 are an integral part of these financial statements.

6
49

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Statement of Changes in Equity

-

-

-

3,722,256

Statutory Revaluation
Reserve
Reserve
$
$

279,101
279,101

279,101
-

-

375,324

Revaluation
Reserve –
available –
for-sale
investments
$

-

-

-

-

-

Other
Reserves
$

(1,216,353)

6,829

48,000
1,504,747

48,000

1,456,747

55,965,120

Retained
Earnings
$

-

-

327,101
1,783,848

279,101
48,000

1,456,747

76,005,608

Total
Equity
$

For the year ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

-

-

-

-

1,216,353

Share
Capital
$
Total comprehensive income
Profit for the year
-

-

(6,829)

-

-

7,971,454

Other comprehensive income
Fair value gain on available-for- sale financial
assets
Re-measurement of defined benefit asset (Note 20)

-

-

-

(4,382,764)

7,971,454

Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

-

-

4,382,764

Balance at January 1, 2016

Transfer to retained earnings

-

-

(499,996)

-

(499,996)

77,289,460

654,425

-

-

3,715,427

-

-

Reserve for loan loss provision (Note 23)
Reserve for interest recognised on non-performing
loans (Note 23)

7,971,454

51,377,583

7,971,454

5,599,117

-

Transactions with owners
Dividends to shareholders (Note 32)
Balance at December 31, 2016

The notes on pages 53 to 118 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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-

Total comprehensive income

Transfer to retained earnings
7,971,454

-

-

3,722,256

(5,369 )

-

-

-

-

-

3,727,625

375,324

-

(367,356 )

(367,356)

-

(367,356 )

-

742,680

Revaluation
Reserve –
available –
for-sale
investments
$

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other
Reserves
$

The notes on pages 53 to 118 are an integral part of these financial statements.

7,971,454

-

Total other comprehensive income

Balance at December 31, 2015

-

-

-

-

7,971,454

Statutory Revaluation
Reserve
Reserve
$
$

-

-

7,971,454

Share
Capital
$

Other comprehensive income
Fair value loss on available-for- sale financial
assets
Re-measurement of defined benefit asset (Note 20)

Total comprehensive income
Profit for the year

Balance at January 1, 2015

For the year ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Statement of Changes in Equity

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited

55,965,120

5,369

1,187,586

160,000

160,000

-

1,027,586

54,772,165

Retained
Earnings
$

76,005,608

-

820,230

(207,356 )

160,000

(367,356 )

1,027,586

75,185,378

Total
Equity
$

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
14, 15
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
25
Gain on disposal of investment
25
Impairment losses
29
Defined benefit (income)/expense
20
Dividend income
25
Income tax expense
30
Interest and similar income
24
Interest expense and similar charges
24
Cash flows before changes in operating assets and
liabilities
Increase in mandatory reserve deposits with Central
Bank
Increase in loans and advances to financial institutions
Increase in loans and advances to customers
Decrease/(increase) in other assets
Increase in due to customers
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities
Cash from operations
Interest and similar income received
Interest expense and similar charges paid
Defined benefit contributions paid
Income taxes paid
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of treasury bills
Proceeds from sale of treasury bills
Purchase of investment securities
Proceeds from sale of investment securities
Dividends received
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Purchase of property and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid on ordinary shares
Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

1,027,586

1,365,183
327,989
(9,972)
9,379,683
(15,000)
(120,772)
187,264
(29,340,315)
10,557,017

1,572,373
9,267,492
19,000
(82,815)
111,833
(30,975,513)
12,373,543

(6,212,176)

(6,686,501)

(11,471,870)
(6,472,285)
(166,481)
158,671
34,128,890
2,580,269

(1,959,780)
(338,465)
(5,710,312)
(4,494,455)
36,513,714
(54,692)

12,545,018
32,004,105
(10,559,349)
(198,000)
33,791,774

17,269,510
32,733,092
(12,798,062)
(150,000)
(1,519,220)
35,535,320

(10,412,007)
7,297,232
(15,495,521)
7,297,034
120,772
118,834
(406,271)
(11,479,927)

(46,462,851)
23,761,804
(28,236,702)
24,629,427
82,815
(744,159)
(268,893)
(27,238,558)

32

(476,182)
(476,182)
21,835,665
77,929,620

(735)
(735)
8,296,027
69,633,593

16

99,765,285

77,929,620

The notes
on pages
53 to 10
118toare
partpart
of these
financial
statements.
The notes
on pages
75 an
areintegral
an integral
of these
financial
statements.
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2015
$

1,456,747

14
15

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

2016
$

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
1

Reporting entity
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited, (“the Bank”) was incorporated in Saint Lucia in December
1937 and continued under the Companies Act of 1996. It commenced trading in January 1938 and
provides commercial and retail banking services, including the acceptance of deposits, granting of
loans and advances, credit and debit cards, foreign exchange services, and online and mobile
banking services.
The Bank is subject to the provisions of the Banking Act of Saint Lucia No. 3 of 2015 and the
Companies Act, Cap 13.01 of the revised laws of St. Lucia. It is regulated by the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank (ECCB), the Financial Services Regulatory Authority and the Eastern Caribbean
Securities Regulatory Commission.
The Bank serves the public from six branches and one Bureau De Change all located in Saint Lucia.
The registered office and principal place of business of the Bank is #21 Bridge Street, Castries,
Saint Lucia.

2

Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”).
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on March
30, 2017.
(b) Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the following
material items in the statement of financial position that are measured at fair value:
•
•
•

Available-for-sale financial assets.
Land and buildings measured at revalued amounts
Net defined benefit asset, which is measured at the fair value of plan assets less the present
value of the defined benefit obligation, as explained in Note 20.

(c) Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean dollars, which is the Bank’s
functional currency, except when otherwise indicated. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest
dollar.
(d) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
estimates, based on assumptions, and judgements. The estimates and judgements affect the
reported amounts of, and disclosures relating to, assets, liabilities, contingent assets and contingent
liabilities at the reporting date and the income and expenses for the year then ended. Actual
amounts could differ from those estimates.
The estimates, and the assumptions underlying them, are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

.
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1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2016
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
2

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

(d) Use of estimates and judgments (Cont’d)
Judgements and estimates made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant
effect on these financial statements and/or have a significant risk of material adjustment in the next
financial year are set out below:
Judgements
(i) For the purpose of these financial statements, which are prepared in accordance with IFRS,
judgement refers to the informed identification and analysis of reasonable alternatives,
considering all relevant facts and circumstances, and the well-reasoned, objective and unbiased
choice of the alternative that is most consistent with the agreed principles set out in IFRS.
(a) Classification of investments as held-to-maturity
The Bank follows the guidance of IAS 39 on classifying non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity. This classification
requires significant judgement about the Bank’s intention and ability to hold the security to
maturity. In making this judgement, the Bank evaluates its intention and ability to hold such
investments to maturity. If the Bank fails to keep these investments to maturity other than
for the specific circumstances – for example, selling an insignificant amount close to
maturity – it will reclassify the entire class as available-for-sale. The investments would
thereafter be measured at fair value not amortised cost. If the entire held-to-maturity
portfolio of investments were tainted, the carrying value would decrease by $2,465,649
(2015-$797,658) with a corresponding entry in the fair value reserve in other
comprehensive income.
(b) Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments
The Bank determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there
has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. This
determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgement. In making this
judgment, the Bank evaluates, among other factors, when there is evidence of deterioration
in the financial health of the investee industry and sector performance, changes in
technology and operational and financing cash flows. During the year the Bank did not
recognise impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments, (2015 - $nil).
(c) Income taxes
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes including
any liabilities for tax audit issues. There are some transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
(ii) Uncertainties arising from the use of estimates
(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Bank reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis. In
determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the Bank
makes judgement as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the
decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. This evidence may
include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment
11
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Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

(d) Use of estimates and judgments (Cont’d)
(ii) Uncertainties arising from the use of estimates (Cont’d)
(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances (Cont’d)
status of borrowers in a Bank, or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on
assets in the Bank. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those
in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions
used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly
to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. To the extent
that the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by +/-5%, the portfolio provision
would be estimated to be $1,486,353 (2015–$1,496,625) lower/higher.
Assets accounted for at amortised cost are evaluated for impairment on a basis described
in Note 3(e) (vi).
The specific component of the total allowances for impairment applies to financial assets
evaluated individually for impairment (those that have been outstanding for more than 90
days and considered non-performing according to the guidelines of the regulators, the
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB) and is based upon management’s best estimate
of the present value of the cash flows that are expected to be received. In estimating these
cash flows, management makes judgements about a debtor’s financial situation and the
net realisable value of any underlying collateral. Each impaired asset is assessed on its
merit, and the workout strategy and estimate of cash flows considered recoverable are
independently approved by the credit risk function.
A collective component of the total allowance is established for:
•

Groups of homogenous loans that are not considered individually significant; and

•

Groups of assets that are individually significant but that were not found to be
individually impaired (Incurred but not reported - IBNR).

Collective allowance for groups of homogenous loans is established using a formula
approach based on historic loss rate experience.
Collective impairment for groups of assets that are individually significant but that were
not found to be individually impaired (IBNR) cover credit losses inherent in portfolios of
loans and advances, and held-to-maturity investment securities with similar credit risk
characteristics when there is objective evidence to suggest that they contain impaired loans
and advances, and held-to-maturity investment securities, but the individual impaired
items cannot yet be identified.
In assessing the need for collective loss allowances, management considers factors such
as credit quality, portfolio size, concentrations and economic factors. In order to estimate
the required allowance, assumptions are made to define the way inherent losses are
modelled and to determine the required input parameters, based on historical experience
and current economic conditions. The accuracy of the allowances depends on the
estimates of future cash flows for specific counterparty allowances and the model
assumptions and parameters used in determining collective allowances.
12
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(d) Use of estimates and judgments (Cont’d)
(ii) Uncertainties arising from the use of estimates (Cont’d)
(b)

Determination of fair values
The determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities for which there is no
observable market price requires the use of valuation techniques as described in Note
3(e)(vi). For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little price
transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of judgment
depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions
and other risks affecting the specific instrument.
The Bank’s accounting policy on fair value measurements is set out in Note 5.
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Bank uses observable market
data as far as possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value
hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:
•

Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for identical assets and
liabilities.

•

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

•

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of
the same fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in
the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire
measurement.
Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are
based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations.
The Bank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the
reporting period during which the change has occurred.
(e)

Adoption of new accounting standards or amendments to standards
The Bank has adopted the following amendments to standards and new interpretations effective
from January 1, 2016. Except as otherwise indicated, the adoption of these amendments to standards
and interpretations did not have any significant impact on the Bank’s financial statements.
•

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, has been amended to clarify that issuing of the standard,
and consequential amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 9, did not intend to prevent entities from
measuring short-term receivables and payables that have no stated interest rate at their
invoiced amounts without discounting, if the effect of not discounting is immaterial.
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(e) Adoption of new accounting standards or amendments to standards (Cont’d)
•

IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and IAS 38, Intangible Assets, have been amended
to clarify that, at the date of revaluation:
(i)

the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation
of the carrying amount of the asset and the accumulated depreciation (amortization) is
adjusted to equal the difference between the gross carrying amount and the carrying
amount of the asset after taking account of accumulated impairment losses or

(ii) the accumulated depreciation (amortization) is eliminated against the gross carrying
amount of the asset.
•

•

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38, Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation.
•

The amendment to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, explicitly state that
revenue-based methods of depreciation cannot be used. This is because such methods
reflect factors other than the consumption of economic benefits embodied in the assets.

•

The amendment to IAS 38, Intangible Assets, introduce a rebuttable presumption that
the use of revenue-based amortisation methods is inappropriate for intangible assets.

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, has been amended to clarify or state the
following:
-

specific single disclosures that are not material do not have to be presented even if they
are minimum requirements of a standard;

-

the order of notes to the financial statements is not prescribed;

-

line items on the statement of financial position and the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (OCI) should be disaggregated if this provides helpful
information to users. Line items can be aggregated if they are not material;

-

specific criteria are now provided for presenting subtotals on the statement of financial
position and in the statement of profit or loss and OCI, with additional reconciliation
requirements for the statement of profit or loss and OCI; and

-

the presentation in the statement of OCI of items of OCI arising from joint ventures and
associates accounted for using the equity method follows the IAS 1 approach of splitting
items that may, or that will never, be reclassified to profit or loss.
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(e) Adoption of new accounting standards or amendments to standards (Cont’d)

(f)

•

IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, has been amended to clarify when servicing
arrangements are in the scope of its disclosure requirements on continuing involvement in
transferred assets in cases when they are derecognized in their entirety. A servicer is deemed to
have continuing involvement if it has an interest in the future performance of the transferred
asset, e.g. if the servicing fee is dependent on the amount or timing of the cash flows collected
from the transferred financial asset; however, the collection and remittance of cash flows from
the transferred asset to the transferee is not, in itself, sufficient to be considered ‘continuing
involvement’.

•

IAS 19, Employee Benefits, has been amended to clarify that high-quality corporate bonds or
government bonds used in determining the discount rate should be issued in the same currency
in which the benefits are to be paid. Consequently, the depth of the market for high-quality
corporate bonds should be assessed at the currency level and not the country level.

New standards, and interpretations of and amendments to existing standards that are not yet
effective
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning
after January 1, 2016. The Bank has not early adopted the following new or amended standards in
preparing these financial statements.
•

IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. It replaces IAS 11, Construction Contracts, IAS 18,
Revenue, IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15, Agreements for the
Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfer of Assets from Customers, and SIC-31,
Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. The new standard applies to
contracts with customers. However, it does not apply to insurance contracts, financial
instruments or lease contracts, which fall in the scope of other IFRSs. It also does not apply if
two companies in the same line of business exchange non-monetary assets to facilitate sales
to other parties. Furthermore, if a contract with a customer is partly in the s ope of another
IFRS, then the guidance on separation and measurement contained in the other IFRS will take
precedence.
The Bank will assess the impact that this standard will have on its 2018 financial statements.
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(f)

New standards, and interpretations of and amendments to existing standards that are not yet
effective (Cont’d)
•

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2018, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and
measurement of financial assets and liabilities, including a new expected credit loss model for
calculating impairment on financial assets and the new general hedge accounting
requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments from IAS 39. Although the permissible measurement bases for financial
assets – amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair
value though profit or loss (FVTPL) - are similar to IAS 39, the criteria for classification into
the appropriate measurement category are significantly different. IFRS 9 replaces the
“incurred loss” model in IAS 39 with an “expected credit loss” model, which means that a loss
event will no longer need to occur before an impairment allowance is recognized.
The new standard is to be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted.
The Bank is assessing the impact that this standard will have on its 2018 financial statements.

•

IFRS 16, Leases, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January
1, 2019, eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, which distinguishes between
on-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet operating leases. Instead, there is a single,
on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to current finance lease accounting.
Companies will be required to bring all major leases on-balance sheet, recognising new assets
and liabilities. The on-balance sheet liability will attract interest; the total lease expense will be
higher in the early years of a lease even if a lease has fixed regular cash rentals. Optional lessee
exemption will apply to short-term leases and for low-value items with a value of US$5,000 or
less.
Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice as the lessor will continue to classify
leases as finance and operating leases. Finance lease accounting will be based on IAS 17 lease
accounting, with recognition of net investment in lease comprising lease receivable and residual
asset. Operating lease accounting will be based on IAS 17 operating lease accounting.
Early adoption is permitted if IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, is also
adopted. The Bank is assessing the impact that this standard will have on its 2019 financial
statements.
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Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been consistently applied to all periods presented in
these financial statements unless otherwise stated.

(a) Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean dollars, which is the Bank’s
functional currency, except when otherwise indicated. All amounts presented in Eastern Caribbean
dollars have been rounded to the nearest dollar.
(b) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting
date are translated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign
exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in profit or loss. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to the
functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the values were determined.
(c) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with
less than three months maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash and non-restricted
balances with the Central Bank and deposits with other banks.
(d) Sale and repurchase agreements
Securities purchased under agreements to resell (“reverse repos”) are recorded as loans and
advances to financial institutions or customers, as appropriate. The difference between sale and
repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective
interest method. They are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate.
(e) Financial instruments
The Bank classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories:
• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held-fortrading or is designated as such on initial recognition.
• Held-to-maturity financial assets
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities that the Bank’s management has the positive intention and ability
to hold to maturity, other than: (a) those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as at
fair value through profit or loss; (b) those that the Bank designates as available for sale; and (c)
those that meet the definition of loans and receivables. If the Bank were to sell other than an
insignificant amount of held-to-maturity assets, the entire category would be tainted and
reclassified as available for sale.
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Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(e) Financial instruments (Cont’d)
• Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market, other than: (a) those that the entity intends to sell
immediately or in the short term, which are classified as held for trading, and those that the entity
upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss; (b) those that the entity
upon initial recognition designates as available for sale; or (c) those for which the
holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit
deterioration.
• Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite
period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates,
exchange rates or equity prices or that are not classified as loans and receivables, held to-maturity
investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
The Bank classifies non-derivative financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan
commitments, into the following categories:
• financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and
• other liabilities.
(i) Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities – Recognition and derecognition
The Bank initially recognizes loans and receivables (advances) and debt securities on the date
they are originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized
on the trade date when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
The Bank derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive contractual cash flows in a transaction in which
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or
it neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does
not retain control, over the transferred asset. Any interest in such derecognized financial assets
that is created or retained by the Bank is recognized as a separate asset or liability.
The Bank derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, or
cancelled, or when they expire.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement
of financial position when, and only when, the Bank has a legally enforceable right to offset the
amounts and intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realize the assets and settle the
liability simultaneously.
Financial assets that are transferred to a third party but do not qualify for de-recognition are
presented in the statement of financial position as “Assets pledged as collateral”, if the
transferee has the right to sell or re-pledge them.
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(e) Financial instruments (Cont’d)
(ii) Non-derivative financial assets – Measurement
Financial assets at
fair value through
profit or loss

A financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is
classified as held-for-trading or is designated as such on initial
recognition. Directly attributable transaction costs are recognized in
profit or loss as incurred. Financial assets ate fair value through profit or
loss are measured at fair value and changes therein, including any
interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss.

Held-to-maturity
financial assets

These assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Loans and
receivables

These assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Available-for-sale
financial assets

These assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are
measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses
and foreign currency differences on debt instruments are recognized in
OCI and accumulated in fair value reserve. When these assets are
derecognized, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to
profit or loss.

(iii) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Bank has a legal right to set off the amounts and
it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for
gains and losses arising from a Bank of similar transactions similar to the Bank’s trading
activities.
(iv) Amortised cost measurement
The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or
liability is measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortization, using the effective interest method, of any difference between the
initial amount recognized and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.
(v) Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in
its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair
value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.
A number of the Bank’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair
values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.
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Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(e) Financial instruments (Cont’d)
(v) Fair value measurement (Cont’d)
When one is available, the bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price
in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the
asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing
information on an on-going basis.
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation techniques that
maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs.
The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would
take into account in pricing a transaction.
If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Bank
measures assets and long positions at a bid price, and liabilities and short positions at an ask
price.
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally
the transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Bank
determines that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price, and the
fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or
liability not based on a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged to
be insignificant in relation to the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially
measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value on initial
recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognized in profit or
loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation
is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.
(vi) Identification and measurement of impairment
a) Non-derivative financial assets
At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial
assets not classified as at fair value through profit or loss are impaired.
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include:
1. significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
2. default or delinquency by a borrower;
3. restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not
otherwise consider;
4. indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy;
5. the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties;
or
6. other observable data indicating that there is a measureable decrease in the expected
cash flows from a group of financial assets.
For an investment in an equity security, objective evidence of impairment includes a
significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost. In general, the Bank considers
a decline of 20% to be significant and a period of nine (9) months to be prolonged.
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(e) Financial instruments (Cont’d)
(vi) Identification and measurement of impairment (Cont’d)
a) Non-derivative financial assets (Cont’d)
Financial assets
measured at
amortised cost

The Bank considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances and heldto-maturity investment securities both at an individual asset and a collective
level. All individually significant loans and advances and held-to-maturity
investments are assessed for specific impairment. Those not found to be
impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been
incurred but not yet individually identified. Assets that are not individually
significant are collectively assessed for impairment. Collective assessment is
carried out by grouping together assets with similar risk characteristics.
In assessing collective impairment, the Bank uses historical information on the
timing of recoveries and the amount of the loss incurred, and makes an
adjustment if current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual
losses are likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical trends.
An impairment loss is calculated as the difference between an asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at
the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are recognized in profit or
loss and reflected in an allowance account. When the bank considered that
there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts
are written off. If the amount of the impairment loss subsequently decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognized, then the previously recognized impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss.

Available-forsale financial
assets

Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognized by
reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair value reserve to profit or loss.
The amount reclassified is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of
any principal repayment and amortization, and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss recognized previously in profit or loss. If the fair value of an
impaired available-for-sale debt security subsequently increases and the
increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognized, then the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
Impairment losses recognized in profit or loss for an investment in an equity
instrument classified as available-for-sale are not reversed through profit or
loss.

Equityaccounted
investees

An impairment loss in respect of an equity accounted investee is measured by
comparing the recoverable amount of the investment with its carrying amount.
An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, and is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount.
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Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(e) Financial instruments (Cont’d)
(vi) Identification and measurement of impairment (Cont’d)
b) Non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets
(other than inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.
For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows
of other assets or CGUs.
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater off its value in use and its fair
value less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.
(f)

Property and equipment
(i) Recognition and measurement
Land and buildings, which comprise mainly branches and offices, are shown at fair value,
based on valuations done by external independent valuers every 5 years, less subsequent
depreciation for buildings. Any accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
All other assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes expenditure that
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. The cost of self constructed assets
includes:
•

the cost of materials and direct labour;

•

any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its
intended use;

•

in instances when the Bank has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an
estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which
they are located; and

•

capitalised borrowing costs.

When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment.
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property and equipment
and are recognized net within other income in profit or loss.
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Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Property and equipment (Cont’d)
(ii) Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future economic benefits
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Bank. All other related expenditures are charged
to profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
(iii) Depreciation
Depreciation for buildings is calculated to write off their costs less their estimated residual
values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and the reducing
balance method for all other property and equipment as follows:
Buildings
Furniture and fixtures
Equipment
Motor vehicles

2%
10%
15%
20%

Depreciation methods, residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting date.
Land is not depreciated.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
(g) Intangible assets
Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable intangible items arising from computer software
licenses and other intangible assets. Intangible assets are recognized at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets with a definite useful life
are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful economic life, generally
not exceeding 4 years. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortized. Generally,
the identified intangible assets of the Bank have a definite useful life.
At each reporting date intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in
estimated future economic benefits. If such indications exist, the intangible assets are analyzed to
assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized if the
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The Bank chooses to use the cost model for the
measurement after recognition. Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are annually tested for
impairment and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired, the intangible asset
is analyzed to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable.
Computer software licenses
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire
and bring the specific software to use. These costs are amortized on the basis of the expected useful
lives. Software has a maximum expected useful life of 4 years (25% per annum).
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(h) Guarantees and letters of credit
Guarantees and letters of credit comprise undertakings by the Bank to pay bills of exchange drawn
on customers. The Bank expects most guarantees and letters of credit to be settled simultaneously
with the reimbursement from the customers.
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value on the date the
guarantee was given. The fair value of a financial guarantee at the time of signature is zero because
all guarantees are agreed on arm’s length terms and the value of the premium agreed corresponds
to the value of the guarantee obligation. No receivable for the future premiums is recognised.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the
higher of the initial amount, less amortisation of fees recognised in accordance with IAS 18, and
the best estimate of the amount required to settle the guarantee. These estimates are determined
based on experience of similar transactions and history of past losses, supplemented by the
judgement of management. The fee income earned is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
life of the guarantee. Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees is reported in profit or loss
within other operating expenses.
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(i)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when:
•

the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;

•

it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;

•

and the amount has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
The unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost.
(j)

Employee benefits
(i) Pension obligation
The Bank operates a defined benefit plan for all employees. The assets of the plan are held
separately from those of the Bank. The pension plan is funded through payments from employees
and the Bank, taking account of the recommendations of independent qualified actuaries. The
Bank’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated by estimating the amount
of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting that
amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.
The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using
the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Bank,
the recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of
any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate
the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum
funding requirements.
Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses,
the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding
interest) are recognised immediately in OCI. The Bank determines the net interest
expense/(income) on the net defined benefit liability/(asset) for the period by applying the
discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period
to the then-net defined benefit liability/(asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined
benefit liability/(asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net
interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in personnel
expenses in profit or loss.
When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in
benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately
in profit or loss. The Bank recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan
when the settlement occurs.
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(j)

Employee benefits (Cont’d)
(ii) Profit-sharing and bonus plans
The Bank recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a
formula that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Bank’s shareholders after
certain adjustments. The Bank recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there
is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

(k) Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in OCI.
a) Current tax
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or recoverable on the taxable profit or loss for
the year and any adjustments to the tax payable or recoverable in respect of previous years. The
amount of the current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected
to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to taxes, if any. It is measured using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.
b) Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes. The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation of property and
equipment. Deferred tax is not recognised for temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the Bank’s business plans and the
reversal of temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reported date and
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised;
such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be used.
Deferred income tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary
differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date and which are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.
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(l)

Share capital
(i) Ordinary shares
Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the Bank. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.
(ii) Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved
by the shareholders. Dividends for the year declared after the reporting date are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.
(m) Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within
“interest income” and “interest expense” in profit or loss using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective
interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The
calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.
Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an
impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
(n) Fee and commission income
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been
provided. Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together
with related direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan.
Performance linked fees or fee components are recognised when the performance criteria are
fulfilled.
(o) Dividend income
Dividends are recognised in profit or loss when the Bank’s right to receive payment is established.
(p) Leases
(i) The Bank is the lessee
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over
the period of the lease.
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(p) Leases (Cont’d)
(ii) The Bank is the lessor
When assets are leased out under an operating lease, the assets are included in the statement of
financial position based on the nature of the assets. Lease income is recognised over the term of
the lease on the straight line basis.
4

Financial risk management
The Bank has exposure to the following risks from financial instruments:
•

Credit risk

•

Liquidity risk;

•

Market risk (including currency risk, interest rate and other price risk); and

•

Operational risk

4.1 Risk management framework
The Bank’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of its
risk management framework. The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those
activities involve the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or
combination of risks. Taking risk is core to retail banking, and operational risks are an inevitable
consequence of being in business. The Bank’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance
between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the Bank’s financial performance.
The Bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Bank, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. The
risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions
and the Bank’s activities. The Bank, through its training and management standards and procedures,
aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees
understand their roles and obligations.
The audit committee oversees how management, through the finance department, monitors
compliance with the Bank’s risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of
the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Bank. Management identifies
and evaluates financial risks in close co-operation with the Bank’s operating units. The Board
provides oversight for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas,
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. In addition, internal audit is
responsible for the independent review of risk management and the control environment. It
undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results
of which are reported to the audit committee.
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4.2 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank is a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Bank’s loans and
advances to customers and other banks, and investment debt securities in investment securities and
other bills. Significant changes in the economy, or in the health of a particular industry segment
that represents a concentration in the Bank’s portfolio, could result in losses that are different from
those provided for at the reporting date. There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet financial
instruments such as loan commitments. Credit risk is managed and controlled by management which
reports to the Board of Directors.
4.2.1 Credit risk measurement

(a) Loans and advances
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank’s prudential guidelines are embedded in the Bank’s daily
operational management. The operational measurements can be compared with impairment
allowances required under IAS 39, which are based on losses that have been incurred at the reporting
date (the “incurred loss model”).
The Bank assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using the Eastern
Caribbean Central Bank prudential guidelines. Clients of the Bank are segmented into five rating
classes. The Bank’s rating scale, which is shown below, reflects the range of default probabilities
defined for each rating class.
Bank’s rating

Description of the grade

1
2
3
4
5

Pass
Special Mention
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

This means that, in principle, exposures migrate between classes as the assessment of their
probability of default changes. The Bank regularly validates the performance of the rating and their
predictive power with regard to default events.
(b) Debt securities and other bills
For debt securities and other bills, external ratings such as Caricris or their equivalents are used by
management for management of the credit risk exposures.
4.2.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Bank manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified −
in particular, to individual counterparties and groups, and to industries.
The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk
accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to the industry segments. Such
risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review by the
Board of Directors.
The exposure to any one borrower including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits
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4.2.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies (Cont’d)
covering on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposures, and daily delivery risk limits in relation
to trading items. Actual exposures against limits are monitored daily.
Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and
potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these
lending limits where appropriate.
Some other specific control and mitigation measures are outlined below.
(a)

Collateral
The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of
these is the taking of security for funds advanced, which is common practice. The Bank implements
guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal
collateral types for loans and advances are:
•
Mortgages over residential properties;
•
Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable; and
•
Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities.
Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured, while revolving
individual credit facilities are generally unsecured. In addition, in order to minimize the credit loss,
the Bank will seek additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are
noticed for the relevant individual loans and advances.
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances is determined by the
nature of the instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.

(b)

Credit-related commitments
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as
required. Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary
and commercial letters of credit (which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a
customer authorising a third party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under
specific terms and conditions) are collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which they
relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct loan.
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the
form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend
credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments.
However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most commitments
to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The Bank
monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments generally
have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.
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Credit risk (Cont’d)

4.2.3

Impairment and provisioning policies
The impairment provision shown in the statement of financial position at the reporting date is
derived from each of the five internal rating grades. The table below shows the percentage of the
Bank’s on-balance sheet items relating to loans and advances and the associated impairment
provision for each of the Bank’s internal rating categories:
2016
Loans and
Impairment
advances
provision
(%)
(%)
Bank’s rating
1. Pass
2. Special mention
3. Sub-standard
4. Doubtful
5. Loss

80.0%
3.2%
12.2%
2.6%
2.0%

20.3%
1.0%
51.1%
15.1%
12.5%

2015
Loans and Impairment
advances
provision
(%)
(%)
78.5%
3.5%
13.7%
2.8%
1.5%

14.7%
1.2%
51.6%
19.5%
13.0%

The internal rating tool assists management to determine whether objective evidence of
impairment exists, based on the following factors set out by the Bank:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;
Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (e.g. equity ratio, net income percentage
of sales);
Breach of loan covenants or conditions;
Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;
Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position; and
Deterioration in the value of collateral.

The Bank’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality
thresholds at least annually or more regularly when individual circumstances require. Impairment
allowances on individually assessed accounts are determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss
at the reporting date on a case-by-case basis, and are applied to all individually significant
accounts. The assessment normally encompasses collateral held (including re-confirmation of its
enforceability) and the anticipated receipts for that individual account.
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4.2.4

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements
Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets are as follows:
Maximum exposure
2016
$
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers:
− Overdrafts
− Demand loans
− Promissory notes
− Mortgages
− Credit cards
Investment securities:
− available for sale – debt securities
− held to maturity
Other assets

2015
$

65,429,684
33,350,505
23,376,923

53,563,141
30,248,281
16,802,818

13,994,146
183,331,023
5,914,728
156,686,216
1,995,484

11,668,283
183,415,050
5,817,744
171,182,448
1,952,822

7,343,963
33,703,060
6,013,311
531,139,043

8,198,380
24,404,544
6,055,209
513,308,720

173,008

590,731

22,199,587
22,372,595

40,213,243
40,803,974

553,511,638

554,112,694

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet
items are as follows:
Financial guarantees
Loan commitments and other credit related
facilities
At December 31

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank at December
31, 2016 and 2015, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements
attached. For on-balance-sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying
amounts as reported in the statement of financial position.
Loans and advances to customers and financial institutions comprise 73% of the total maximum
exposure (2015 - 76%); investments in debt securities comprise 8% (2015 - 6%).
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4.2
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4.2.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements
(Cont’d)
Notwithstanding the current dynamics of the economy, management is fairly confident in its ability
to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the Bank based on the
following:

4.2.5

•

83% (2015 - 82%) of the loans and advances portfolio is categorised in the top two grades
of the internal rating system;

•

93% (2015 - 97%) of the portfolio is backed by collateral in the form of mortgage debentures,
legal mortgages, life and comprehensive insurances, bills of sale, cash and guarantees;

•

63% (2015 - 64%) of the total loans and advances portfolio is considered to be neither past
due nor impaired;

•

The Bank continues to grant loans and advances in accordance with its lending policies and
guidelines; and

•

0.9% (2015 - 1%) of investments are rated above A- and CariA and 72% (2015 – 74%) are
rated above B- and below CariA. Many issuers are not rated but only 18% (2015 – 21%) of
investments in the portfolio are not rated.

Loans and advances
Loans and advances are summarised as follows:
Loans and advances to customers
Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Impaired

2016
$

2015
$

244,959,523
77,049,948
64,460,026

254,144,964
73,496,680
72,473,275

Gross

386,469,497

400,114,919

Less: allowance for impairment (Notes 11 and 12)

(24,547,900)

(26,078,572 )

Net

361,921,597

374,036,347

23,376,923

16,802,818

Loans and advances to financial institutions
Neither past due nor impaired (Note 10)
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4.2 Credit risk (Cont’d)
4.2.5 Loans and advances (Cont’d)

(a) Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired
The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can
be assessed by reference to the internal rating system adopted by the Bank.

December 31, 2016

Overdrafts
$

Credit
card
$

Demand
loans
$

Promissory
notes
$

Mortgages
$

Total Loans
and
advances to
customers
$

Loans and advances
to customers
Grades
1. Pass
2. Special mention
3. Sub-standard
4. Doubtful
5. Loss

13,803,272
118,635
282,080
16,625
-

1,217,906
-

133,356,162
118,377
-

5,063,969
-

89,201,650
1,780,847
-

242,642,959
2,017,859
282,080
16,625
-

Total

14,220,612

1,217,906

133,474,539

5,063,969

90,982,497

244,959,523

Promissory
notes
$

Mortgages
$

Total Loans
and
advances to
customers
$

December 31, 2015

Overdrafts
$

Credit
card
$

Demand
loans
$

Loans and advances
to customers
Grades
1. Pass
2. Special mention
3. Sub-standard
4. Doubtful
5. Loss

11,240,772
362,606
222,316
-

1,175,269
-

135,763,985
205,616
-

5,059,879
-

89,282,975
10,831,546
-

242,522,880
11,399,768
222,316
-

Total

11,825,694

1,175,269

135,969,601

5,059,879

100,114,521

254,144,964
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4.2 Credit risk (Cont’d)
4.2.5 Loans and advances (Cont’d)

(a) Loans and advances neither past due or impaired (Cont’d)
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to financial institutions were graded 1 (Pass) as at December 31, 2016 and
December 31, 2015.
(b) Loans and advances past due but not impaired
Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired, unless other information
is available to indicate the contrary. The gross amount of loans and advances by class to customers
net of unearned interest that were past due but not impaired were as follows:

Mortgages
$

Total loans
and advances
to customers
$

661,688
120,710
61,948
-

30,405,248
8,143,151
2,464,767
-

58,893,212
10,689,942
7,443,187
23,607

34,414,857

844,346

41,013,166

77,049,948

-

117,253,187

1,699,941

94,980,774

213,933,902

Credit
cards
$

Demand
loans
$

Mortgages
$

Total loans
and advances
to customers
$

559,627
123,688
70,630
23,609

20,599,751
4,491,972
3,068,057
-

506,553
76,472
31,042
-

36,418,871
1,592,603
5,933,805
-

58,084,802
6,284,735
9,103,534
23,609

777,554
-

28,159,780

614,067

43,945,279

73,496,680

85,300,842

951,751

88,597,160

174,849,753

December 31, 2016
Past due up to 30 days
Past due 30-60 days
Past due 61-90 days
Past due over 90 days

Credit
cards
$

Demand
loans
$

559,663
123,686
70,623
23,607

27,266,613
2,302,395
4,845,849
-

Total

777,579

Fair value of collateral

December 31, 2015
Past due up to 30 days
Past due 30-60 days
Past due 60-90 days
Past due over 90 days
Total
Fair value of collateral

Promissory
notes
$

Promissory
notes
$

Upon initial recognition of loans and advances, the fair value of collateral is determined using valuation
techniques commonly used for the corresponding assets. In subsequent periods, the fair value is
updated by reference to market price or indexes of similar assets. There were no overdrafts past due
but not impaired.
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4.2 Credit risk (Cont’d)
4.2.5 Loans and advances (Cont’d)

Loans and advances to financial institutions (Cont’d)
(c) Loans and advances individually impaired
The table below shows the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances to customers
by grades before taking into consideration the cash flows from collateral held.
2016
$

2015
$

Grades:
1. Pass
2. Special mention
3. Sub-standard
4. Doubtful
5. Loss

276,897
59,711
46,519,323
10,239,904
7,364,191

209,033
516,219
54,794,488
11,130,928
5,822,607

Total

64,460,026

72,473,275

123,005,559

138,174,144

Individually impaired loans

Fair value of collateral
(d) Loans and advances renegotiated

Restructuring activities include extended payment arrangements, approved external management
plans, modification and deferral of payments. Following restructuring, a previously overdue
customer account is reset to normal status and managed together with other similar accounts.
Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgment of
local management, indicate that payment will most likely continue. These policies are kept under
continuous review. Restructuring is most commonly applied to term loans, in particular customer
finance loans. Renegotiated loans that would otherwise be past due or impaired as at December 31,
2016 amounted to $5,546,079 (2015 - $21,973,893).
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4.2 Credit risk (Cont’d)
4.2.6 Debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills

The table below presents an analysis of debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills by
rating agency designation at December 31, 2016 and 2015, based on Caricris or their equivalent:
At December 31, 2016

Investment securities
Held-toAvailablematurity
for-sale
$
$

Treasury
bills
$
A- to A+

-

-

693,730

693,730

BBB- to BBB+

-

-

2,521,461

2,521,461

BB- to BB+

-

-

2,560,169

2,560,169

4,973,114

2,020,301

-

6,993,415

CariA

-

-

-

-

CariBBB+

-

5,305,339

-

5,305,339

CariBBB

25,436,396

17,661,326

-

43,097,722

Unrated

2,940,995

8,716,094

1,568,603

13,225,692

33,350,505

33,703,060

7,343,963

74,397,528

B- to B+

Total
At December 31, 2015

Investment securities
Held-toAvailablematurity
for-sale
$
$

Treasury
bills
$

Total
$

A- to A+

-

-

678,872

678,872

BBB- to BBB+

-

-

1,860,216

1,860,216

BB- to BB+

-

-

1,150,359

1,150,359

1,898,788

2,019,945

-

3,918,733

-

2,331,116

-

2,331,116

28,349,493

11,606,127

-

39,955,620

-

8,447,356

4,508,933

12,956,289

30,248,281

24,404,544

8,198,380

62,851,205

B- to B+
CariA
CariBBB+
CariBBB
Unrated
Total

37
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Financial risk management (Cont’d)

4.2 Credit risk (Cont’d)
4.2.7 Repossessed collateral

During 2016, the Bank obtained assets by taking possession of collateral held as security, as follows:
Nature of assets

Carrying
amount
$
919,409

Vehicles

Repossessed vehicles are sold as soon as practicable with the proceeds used to reduce the outstanding
indebtedness.
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4
4.2 Credit risk (Cont’d)
4.2.8 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure

(a) Geographical sectors
The Bank operates primarily in Saint Lucia and the exposure to credit risk is concentrated there.
(b) Industry sectors

The following table breaks down the Bank’s main credit exposure at their carrying amounts, as categorised by the industry sectors of
counterparties.

Other
industries

Total
$

Personal
$

$

Professional
and other
services
$

65,429,679
33,350,505
23,376,923

Tourism Government
$
$

-

13,994,148

Manufacturing
$

-

7,485,292

1,995,484

Financial
institutions
$

-

1,171,643

598,645

183,331,021

- 33,350,505
-

1,396,839

74,946,438

5,914,728

-

2,379,430

61,461,060

113,345

65,429,679
23,376,923

9,745,539 14,290,364

5,757,466

Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions

8,210

- Credit cards

- Overdraft

Loans and advances to customers:

-

4,744,846 18,142,774

786,379

-

156,686,216

2,157,959
-

35,707

57,957,367

13,445

- Demand loans

-

90,723,532

-

- Promissory notes

6,049,012

7,355,134

8,761,679

7,343,963
33,703,060
6,013,311
531,139,038

-

2,500,000

2,549,886
103,574
160,510,540 143,754,547

1,956,305

140,206

22,372,595

-

539,493

3,897,467
896,610
13,917,859
- 19,681,627
6,013,311
112,635,239 4,793,998 22,257,038 64,460,660 22,727,016
-

3,076,083

-

- Mortgages
Investment securities:
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Other assets
As at December 31, 2016
Credit commitments
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- 7,844,836
-

- Demand loans

- Promissory notes

- Mortgages
Investment securities:
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Other assets
As at December 31, 2015

Credit commitments

-

- Credit cards

-

119,448

2,114,733
10,674,910
5,248,883
88,404,485 7,939,907

-

-

-

-

- Overdraft

95,071

-

Due from other banks
53,563,141
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions 16,802,818

Loans and advances to customers:

Manufacturing
$

Financial
institutions
$

(b) Industry sectors (Cont’d)

-

-

6,323,580

264,842

- 25,508,585

904,303
- 13,626,072
4,732,550 55,739,167 27,328,886

1,988,824

-

60,224,420

78,371

12,084,020

2,827,079

5,179,344
103,562
806,326
174,369,939 154,793,786

102,645,624

5,724,323

585,847

1,366,975

82,370,252

5,445,664

-

Other
industries
$

1,153,891

15,050

-

4,838,757

-

63,479,126

-

22,267

-

Personal
$

2,631,093 10,938,244 16,151,499

-

112,633

- 30,248,281
-

Professional
and other
Tourism Government
services
$
$
$

4.2.8 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure (Cont’d)

4.2 Credit risk (Cont’d)
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40,803,974

8,198,380
24,404,544
6,055,209
513,308,720

171,182,448

5,817,744

183,415,050

1,952,822

11,668,283

53,563,141
30,248,281
16,802,818

Total
$
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4.3 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices – e.g. equity prices, foreign exchange rates and
credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor’s/issuer’s credit standing) – will affect the
Bank’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of the Bank’s
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters to ensure the bank’s solvency while optimising the return on risk.
The Bank’s exposures to market risks primarily arise from the interest rate management of the
Bank’s retail and commercial banking assets and liabilities and equity risks arising from the Bank’s
available-for-sale investments.
4.3.1 Other price risk

The Bank is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by the Bank and
classified in the statement of financial position as available-for-sale. To manage its price risk
arising from investments in equity securities, the Bank diversifies its portfolio.
At December 31, 2016, if equity securities prices had been 5% higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, comprehensive income for the year would have been $65,923 higher/lower (2015 $56,325 higher/lower) as a result of a reasonably possible increase/decrease in fair value of
available-for-sale equity securities at the reporting date.
4.3.2 Foreign exchange risk

The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency
exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Board of Directors sets limits on the
level of exposure by currency, and in total, which are monitored daily.
The Bank’s exposure to currency risk is minimal since most of its assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are held in United States dollars. The exchange rate of the Eastern Caribbean dollar
(EC$) to the United States dollar (US$) has been formally pegged at EC$2.70 = US$1.00 since
1976. The rate of exchange of EC$1 for relevant major currencies was as follows:
USD

BBD

CAD

EUR

GBP

$

$

$

$

$

At December 31, 2016

2.7000

1.3517

2.0017

2.8581

3.3249

At December 31, 2015

2.7000

1.3517

1.9452

2.9493

4.0027

The following table summarises the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at
December 31, 2016 and 2015. Included in the table, are the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying
amount, categorised by currency.
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–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–

23,376,923
345,721,597
1,365,729
33,703,060
6,013,311
520,252,578
537,514,906
7,821,375
545,336,281
(25,083,703)
22,372,595

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities

Total financial liabilities

Net on-balance sheet positions

Credit commitments

USD

GBP

–
–
–

–
–

–
–

5,978,234

16,200,000

–
–
–

–
–

484,381 1,491,971
174,478
530,758 58,339,675 1,407,151
–
–

EURO

2,998,578

–

2,998,578

–

–
–

–

–

–

–

324,233 1,013,759 79,011,302 1,581,629

1,380

1,380
–

324,233 1,015,139 82,009,880 1,581,629

–

72,027,511
4,693,942
33,350,505
136,549
187,684

CAD

Financial assets
Cash and balances with Central
Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial
institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Other assets

As at December 31, 2016

ECD

Concentration of currency risk – on and off balance sheet financial instruments

4.3.2 Foreign exchange risk (Cont’d)

4.3 Market risk (Cont’d)

4

December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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–
–
–

–
–

128,361
212,176
-

BD

–

–
–

–

–

58,298 340,537

–

–
–

58,298 340,537

–
–
–

–
–

–

58,298

TTD

22,372,595

57,246,055

548,336,239

540,514,864
7,821,375

605,582,294

7,343,963
33,703,060
6,013,311

23,376,923
361,921,597

74,443,251
65,429,684
33,350,505

TOTAL
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4.3 Market risk (Cont’d)
4.3.2 Foreign exchange risk (Cont’d)
ECD

CAD

EURO

USD

106,828
1,189,441

GBP

Concentration of currency risk – on and off balance sheet financial instruments (Cont’d)
As at December 31, 2015

1,067,771
52,550,881

TTD

BD

TOTAL

–

228,796
–

139,121 310,212
13,507 486,993

–

16,802,818

125,021 53,002,259
206,152 53,563,141
30,248,281
–

–

–

–

51,253,306
(1,112,629)
30,248,281

–

–

40,803,974

54,705,380

566,310,979

–

–

–

228,796 331,173

228,796 331,173

–

16,802,818

3,914,878

1,296,269

374,036,347

506,388,307
5,217,292

–

–
–
–

–

–

–
–

511,605,599

–

–

57,533,530

–
–

–

–

374,036,347

–
–
–

–

–

8,198,380
24,404,544
6,055,209
–
–
–

797,205

3,382,244

–

–
–
–

4,283,502
24,404,544
6,055,209

152,628

1,689

3,382,244_

1,296,269

–
–
–

505,971,378

–
–

1,689

54,151,286

–
–
–

Total financial assets

503,004,374
5,217,292

–

795,516

–
–

Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities

508,221,666

152,628

–

Financial assets
Cash and balances with
Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to
financial institutions
Loans and advances to
customers
Investment securities
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Other assets

Total financial liabilities

(2,250,288)

–

sheet

–

on-balance
positions

–

Net

40,803,974

Credit commitments
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4.3 Market risk (Cont’d)
4.3.3 Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the
value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Bank
takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on
both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes
but may reduce losses in the event that unexpected movements arise.
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December 31, 2016
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4.3 Market risk (Cont’d)
4.3.3 Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

Up to
1 month
$

1-3
months
$

Over 5
years
$

Total
$

1-5
years
$

Noninterest
bearing
$
3-12
months
$

The table below summarizes the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying
amounts, categorized by the earlier of contractual repricing and maturity dates.

As at December 31, 2016

74,443,251
65,429,684
33,350,505
23,376,923
361,921,597

17,163,117
17,878,764
13,175,508

74,443,251
8,252,356
-

8,025,635
5,498,159
9,647,104

57,825,639 267,546,980

57,177,328
8,161,753
13,726,366

7,343,963
33,703,060
6,013,311

66,748,568 272,818,997

9,635,105
-

6,013,311

1,136,722
17,944,333
-

202,873
5,069,144
-

229,000
302,886
-

605,582,294

5,775,368
751,592
-

88,708,918

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities:
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Other assets

67,460,744 272,818,997

540,514,864

67,298,444

51,713,244

7,821,375

23,702,784

-

7,821,375

85,592,407

712,176

-

Total financial assets

-

14,957,837 126,164,411

-

14,957,837 126,164,411

-

548,336,239

346,967,196

-

59,534,619

346,967,196

8,744,947 (58,865,967)

57,246,055

(261,374,789)

29,174,299

712,176

Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities
Total financial liabilities
Total interest repricing gap

88

89

316,520,227

Liabilities
Due to customers
316,520,227
(228,689,327)

Total financial liabilities

Total interest repricing gap

-

87,830,901

Total financial assets

Other liabilities

-

7,972,949
807,003
-

48,036,242

11,574,651
-

15,215,601
14,437,255
6,808,735

3-12
months
$

-

Over 5
years
$

225,431
-

3,299,483

-

3,299,483

-

-

-

66,497,277 291,877,893

12,022,890
-

54,474,387 291,652,462

1-5
years
$

(7,591,914) (74,045,764) 63,197,794 291,877,893

18,354,732 122,082,007

-

18,354,732 122,082,007

10,762,818

3,049,932
2,365,563
5,347,323

1-3
months
$

51,314,761
11,982,748
15,753,440

Up to
1 month
$

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities:
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Other assets

As at December 31, 2015

4.3.3 Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

4.3 Market risk (Cont’d)

4. Financial risk management (Cont’d)

December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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9,956,698

54,705,380

511,605,599

5,217,292

5,217,292
51,349,150

506,388,307

566,310,979

8,198,380
24,404,544
6,055,209

53,002,259
53,563,141
30,248,281
16,802,818
374,036,347

Total
$

46,131,858

61,305,848

6,055,209

53,002,259
2,248,380
-

Noninterest
bearing
$
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4.3 Market risk (Cont’d)
4.3.3 Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

The Bank’s fair value interest rate risk arises from debt securities classified as available-for-sale. At
December 31, 2016, if market interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all variables
held constant, comprehensive income for the year would have been $145,780 higher/ $341,467 lower
($165,419 higher/ $338,859 lower) as a result of the decrease/increase in fair value of available-forsale debt securities.
Cash flow interest rate risk arises from loans and advances to customers at variable rates. At
December 31, 2016, if variable interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been $2,118,108 higher/lower (2015
- $2,290,016 higher/lower), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income on variable rate loans.
4.4 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
4.4.1 Liquidity risk management process

The Board of Directors establishes the strategy and policy for the management of liquidity risk. The
Bank's liquidity is managed by the Finance Department. The Bank’s approach to managing liquidity
is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when
they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or
risking damage to the Bank’s reputation. While a significant proportion of the Bank’s liabilities fall
within the current category, the Bank maintains approximately 40% of assets to manage any payment
obligations as history has shown that the assets maintained to manage these outflows is adequate.
The key elements of the liquidity management process are as follows:

90

•

Daily and weekly monitoring to ensure that requirements are met. This includes the
replenishment of funds as they mature or as borrowed by customers. The Bank ensures that
sufficient funds are held in the one to thirty day maturity bucket to satisfy liquidity requirements.

•

Maintaining a portfolio of marketable assets that can easily be liquidated, as protection against
any unforeseen liquidity problems. Additionally, the investment portfolio is fairly diversified by
currency, geography, provider, product and term.

•

Weekly monitoring of the statement of financial position liquidity ratios against internal and
regulatory requirements.

•

Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

•

Reviewing sources of liquidity are regularly to maintain a wide diversification by currency,
geography, provider, product and term.
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4.4 Liquidity risk (Cont’d)
4.4.2 Non-derivative cash flows

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial
liabilities and assets held for managing liquidity risk by remaining contractual maturities at the
reporting date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows; the
Bank manages the inherent liquidity risk based on expected undiscounted cash inflows.

As at December 31, 2016

Up to
1 month
$

1-3
months
$

3-12
months
$

1-5
years
$

Total
contractual
cash flows
$

Over
5 years
$

Financial liabilities
Due to customers

398,696,052

15,040,187

128,011,074

739,401

-

542,486,714

7,821,375

-

-

-

-

7,821,375

(Contractual maturity dates)

406,517,427

15,040,187

128,011,074

739,401

-

550,308,089

Assets held for managing
liquidity risk
(Contractual maturity dates)

115,077,521

23,702,784

67,298,443

67,460,744

272,818,669

546,358,161

Up to
1 month
$

1-3
months
$

Over
5 years
$

Total
contractual
cash flows
$

Other liabilities
Total financial liabilities

3-12
months
$

1-5
years
$

124,080,027

3,390,969

-

505,415,773

-

-

-

-

5,217,292

(Contractual maturity dates)

367,884,755 15,277,314

124,080,027

3,390,969

-

510,633,065

Assets held for managing
liquidity risk
(Contractual maturity dates)

109,201,363 10,762,817

48,036,243

66,620,835

305,386,914

540,008,172

As at December 31, 2015
Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities

362,667,463 15,277,314
5,217,292

Total financial liabilities
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4.4 Liquidity risk (Cont’d)
4.4.3Assets held for managing liquidity risk
Assets available to meet all of the liabilities and to cover outstanding loan commitments include
cash, Central Bank balances, items in the course of collection, and treasury and other eligible bills,
loans and advances to financial institutions, and loans and advances to customers. In the normal
course of business, a proportion of customer loans contractually repayable within one year will be
extended. The Bank would also be able to meet unexpected net cash outflows by selling securities
and accessing additional funding sources.
4.4.4Off-balance sheet items
(a) Loan commitments
The dates of the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that
commit it to extend credit to customers and other facilities (Note 34), are summarised in the table
below.
(b) Financial guarantees and other financial facilities
Financial guarantees (Note 34) are also included below based on the earliest contractual maturity
date.
Over
1 year
1-5 years
5 years
Total
$
$
$
$
As at December 31, 2016
Loan commitments
20,532,453
1,667,134
22,199,587
Guarantees,
acceptances and other
financial facilities
173,008
173,008
Total
As at December 31, 2015
Loan commitments
Guarantees,
acceptances and other
financial facilities
Total

20,532,453

1,840,142

-

22,372,595

38,667,661

1,540,386

5,196

40,213,243

142,843

335,230

112,658

590,731

38,810,504

1,875,616

117,854

40,803,974

4.5 Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes
associated with the Bank’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from
external factors other than credit, market, and liquidity risks – e.g. those arising from legal and
regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational
risks arise from all of the Bank’s operations.
The Bank’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial
losses and damage to the bank’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and innovation. In
all cases, Bank policy requires compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
49
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4.5 Operational risk (Cont’d)
The Board of Directors has oversight of the operational risk management strategy and processes
of the Bank, delegated to the credit risk committee and the managing director. This
responsibility is supported by the development of overall standards for the management of
operational risk in the following areas:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent
authorisation of transaction;
Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;
Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;
Documentation of controls and procedures;
Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of
controls and procedures to address the risks identified;
Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action;
Development of contingency plans;
Training and development;
Ethical and business standards; and
Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is cost-effective.

Compliance with the Bank’s standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews
undertaken by Internal Audit, which reports direct to the Audit Committee.
5

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence,
the most advantageous market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability
reflects its non-performance risk. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair value of financial instruments.
The fair values of cash resources, other assets and liabilities, cheques and other items in transit and
due to other banks are assumed to approximate their carrying values due to their short term nature.

(i) Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair values of loans and
advances represent the discounted amount of estimated future cash flow expected to be received.
Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rate to determine fair value.
Where available, the fair value of loans and advances is based on observable market transactions.
Where observable market transactions are not available, fair value is estimated using valuation
models such as discounted cash flow techniques. Input into the valuation techniques includes the
expected lifetime credit losses, interest rates, prepayment rates and primary origination or secondary
market spreads. For collateral-dependent impaired loans, the fair value is measured based on the
underlying collateral. Input into the models may include data from third party brokers and
information obtained from other market participants, which includes observed primary and
secondary transactions. To improve the accuracy of the valuation estimates, loans are grouped into
portfolios with similar characteristics such as the quality of collateral, repayment and delinquency
rates.
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Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

(ii) Investment securities
Investment securities include only interest-bearing assets held to maturity; assets classified as
available-for-sale are measured at fair value except for unlisted available-for-sale equity securities
which are carried at cost less impairment. The fair value of equity securities carried at cost less
impairment is not disclosed as it cannot be reliably estimated (Note 13). The fair value for held-tomaturity assets is based on market prices or broker/dealer price quotations. Where this information
is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for securities with similar credit
maturity and yield characteristics.
(iii) Due to customers
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing
deposits, is the amount repayable on demand. Deposits payable on a fixed date are at rates which
reflect market conditions and are assumed to have fair values which approximate carrying values.
The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and
liabilities not presented on the Bank’s statement of financial position at their fair value:
Carrying amount
2016
2015
$
$

Financial assets
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Due from other banks
Loans and advances to customers:
− Overdrafts
− Demand loans
− Promissory notes
− Mortgages
− Credit cards
Investment securities
- Treasury bills
- Held to maturity

Fair value
2016
$

2015
$

23,376,923
65,429,684

16,802,818
53,563,141

23,376,923
65,429,684

16,802,818
53,563,141

13,994,146
183,331,023
5,914,728
156,686,216
1,995,484

11,668,283
183,415,050
5,817,744
171,182,448
1,952,822

13,994,146
187,662,290
6,741,492
154,943,922
1,995,484

11,668,283
202,608,128
6,744,625
174,415,519
1,952,822

33,350,505
33,703,060

30,248,281
24,404,544

33,350,505
31,194,221

30,248,281
23,650,850

158,438,054
318,065,299
64,011,511

164,722,124
288,540,917
53,125,266

156,386,068
318,065,299
64,011,511

159,303,189
288,540,917
53,125,266

Financial liabilities
Due to customers:
− Time deposits
− Savings accounts
− Demand accounts
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Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (Cont’d)
Fair value hierarchy
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from
independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions.
These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:
• Level 1 – Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
instruments. This level includes listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges.
• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments
valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for
identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation
techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market dat.
• Level 3 – inputs that are unobservable (not based on observable market data). This category
includes all instruments for which the valuation technique includes inputs that are not observable
and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category
includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which
significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between
instruments.

5.1 Assets measured at fair value

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

- Investment securities - debt
- Investment securities - equity

5,081,630
-

2,262,333
1,318,450

-

7,343,963
1,318,450

Total assets

5,081,630

3,580,783

-

8,662,413

- Investment securities - debt
- Investment securities - equity

1,860,216
-

6,338,164
1,126,500

-

8,198,380
1,126,500

Total assets

1,860,216

7,464,664

-

9,324,880

December 31, 2016
Available-for-sale financial assets

December 31, 2015
Available-for-sale financial assets
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Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

5.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value, and
analyses them by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is
categorized.
December 31, 2016
Level 1

$

Level 2
$

Level 3

$

Total fair
values

Total
Carrying
amounts

$

$

Financial assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank

74,443,251

-

74,443,251

74,443,251

Treasury bills

-

33,350,505

-

33,350,505

33,350,505

Due from other banks
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Held to maturity investments security
-

-

65,429,684

-

65,429,684

65,429,684

23,376,923

-

23,376,923

23,376,923

365,337,335

-

365,337,335

361,921,597

31,194,221

-

31,194,221

33,703,060

538,462,879
7,821,375
1,139,416,172

-

538,462,879
7,821,375
1,139,416,172

540,514,864
7,821,375
1,140,561,438

Total fair
values

Total
Carrying
amounts

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities
-

December 31, 2015
Level 1

$

Level 2

$

Level 3

$

$

$

Financial assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank

-

53,002,259

53,002,259

Treasury bills

-

30,248,281

-

30,248,281

30,248,281

Due from other banks
Loans and advances to financial
institutions-

-

53,563,141

-

53,563,141

53,563,141

-

16,802,818

-

16,802,818

16,802,818

Loans and advances to customers

-

397,389,377

-

397,389,377

374,036,347

Held to maturity investments security

-

23,650,850

-

23,650,850

24,404,544

-

500,969,372
5,217,292
723,193,390

-

500,969,372
5,217,292
723,193,390

506,388,307
5,217,292
1,063,662,989

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities
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Capital management
The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the “equity” on the
face of the statement of financial position, are:
• to comply with the capital requirements set by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank;
• to safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
• to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Bank’s management,
employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank
(“the Central Bank”) for supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Central
Bank on a quarterly basis.
The Central Bank requires every bank within its regulatory jurisdiction to: (a) hold the minimum
level of paid up capital of $20,000,000, and (b) maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the riskweighted assets (the “Basel ratio”) at or above the minimum indicated in the prudential guidelines.
The Bank’s regulatory capital, as managed by management, is divided into two tiers:
• Tier 1 capital: share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained
earnings.
• Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances and
unrealised gains arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as available for sale.
The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified
according to the nature of − and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated
with − each asset and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A similar
treatment is adopted for off-balance sheet exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more
contingent nature of the potential losses.
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Capital management (Cont’d)
The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Bank for the
years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. During those two years, the Bank complied with all of
the externally imposed capital requirements. Refer to Note 36 for further information in this respect.

Tier 1 capital
Share capital
Statutory reserve
Retained earnings

2016
$

2015
$

7,971,454
7,971,454
51,377,583

7,971,454
7,971,454
55,965,116

Total qualifying Tier 1 capital

67,320,491

71,908,024

5,599,117
654,425
3,715,427
9,968,969

375,323
3,722,256
4,097,579

77,289,460

76,005,603

Risk-weighted assets:
On-balance sheet
Off-balance sheet

359,448,500
4,457,300

379,269,200
8,101,700

Total risk-weighted assets

363,905,800

387,370,900

Capital adequacy ratio - required
Capital adequacy ratio - actual

8%
18%

8%
19%

Basel ratio - required
Basel ratio - actual

8%
21%

8%
20%

Tier 2 capital
Other reserves
Revaluation reserve – available-for-sale investments
Revaluation reserve – property and equipment
Total qualifying Tier 2 capital
Total regulatory capital

The capital adequacy ratio is calculated as total qualifying Tier 1 capital divided by total riskweighted assets. The Basel ratio is calculated as total regulatory capital divided by total riskweighted assets.
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Cash and balances with Central Bank
2016
$

2015
$

Cash in hand
Balances with Central Bank other than mandatory reserve
deposits
Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 16)

14,012,909

9,714,951

20,322,692
34,335,601

14,651,528
24,366,479

Mandatory reserve deposits with Central Bank

40,107,650

28,635,780

74,443,251

53,002,259

The Bank is required to maintain in cash and deposits with the Central Bank, reserve balances in
relation to the deposit liabilities of the institution.
Mandatory reserve deposits are not available for use in the Bank’s day-to-day operations. The
balances with the Central Bank are non-interest bearing.

8

Due from other banks
2016
$

2015
$

Items in the course of collection from other banks
Placements with other banks

1,596,513
63,833,171

(2,362,587)
55,925,728

Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 16)

65,429,684

53,563,141

The weighted average effective interest rate in respect of interest bearing deposits at December 31,
2016 was 0.1% (2015 - 0.1%).
9

Treasury bills

Treasury bills

2016
$

2015
$

33,350,505

30,248,281

The Bank has invested in treasury bills issued by the Government of Saint Lucia. The weighted
average effective interest rate of the treasury bills in 2016 was 3.88% (2015 – 4.82%). All treasury
bills have fixed interest rates, and they mature within one year of the end of the financial year.
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Loans and advances to financial institutions

Reverse repos

2016
$

2015
$

23,376,923

16,802,818

Reverse repos are securities that have been purchased under agreements to resell. The weighted
average effective interest rate of the reverse repos in 2016 was 2.32% (2015 – 2.89%). Reverse repos
mature within one year.
Allowance account for losses on loans and advances to financial institutions as at December 31, 2016
and 2015 was nil.
11

Loans and advances to customers

2016
$

Overdrafts
Demand loans
Promissory notes
Mortgages
Credit cards
Less: Deferred fees
Less: Interest earned not collected
Less: Provision for impairment of loans
and advances (Note 12)

Current
Non-current

2015
$

14,220,612
198,931,086
7,787,838
166,733,888
1,995,484
389,668,908
(1,519,587)
(1,679,824)
386,469,497

11,825,694
201,602,076
7,645,787
180,612,992
1,952,822
403,639,370
(1,674,315)
(1,850,136)
400,114,919

(24,547,900)

(26,078,572)

361,921,597

374,036,347

36,548,977
325,372,620

27,909,498
346,126,849

361,921,597

374,036,347

The weighted average effective interest rate on productive loans measured at amortised cost at
December 31, 2016 was 8.36% (2015 - 8.51%) and the rate on productive overdrafts measured at
amortised cost was 10.51% (2015 – 10.45%).
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12 Provision for impairment of loans and advances
Reconciliation of the allowance account for losses on loans and advances by class is as follows:
Overdraft
$

Demand
loans
$

Promissory
notes
$

Balance at January 1, 2016
Provision for loan impairment (Note 29)
Loans written off during the year

157,411
69,055
-

16,871,242
2,156,128
(4,642,946)

265,709
202,609
(48,147)

At December 31, 2016

226,466

14,384,424

420,171

Balance at January 1, 2015
Provision for loan impairment (Note 29)
Loans written off during the year
At December 31, 2015

166,072 20,573,387
(8,661) 7,454,263
- (11,156,408 )
157,411 16,871,242

Mortgage
$

Total
$

8,784,210
26,078,572
6,951,891
9,379,683
(6,219,262) (10,910,355)
9,516,839

24,547,900

490,132
8,937,213
30,166,804
82,592
1,739,298
9,267,492
(307,015 ) (1,892,301 ) (13,355,724)
265,709
8,784,210
26,078,572

The total impairment provision for loans and advances to customers is $24,547,900 (2015 $26,078,572) of which $18,577,476 (2015 - $20,676,407) represents the individually impaired loans
and the remaining amount of $5,990,424 (2015 - $5,402,165) represents the general portfolio
provision.
13 Investment securities

2016
$

2015
$

1,318,450

1,126,500

1,544,588
2,863,038

3,251,528
(1,706,940 )
2,671,088

Total securities: available-for-sale

5,775,367
1,762,360
(193,764)
7,343,963
10,207,001

7,477,048
915,096
(193,764 )
8,198,380
10,869,468

Held-to-maturity
Debt securities - at amortised cost:
- Listed
- Unlisted
Total securities: held-to-maturity

24,986,966
8,716,094
33,703,060

15,957,188
8,447,356
24,404,544

Total investment securities

43,910,061

35,274,012

Current
Non-current

29,002,932
14,907,129
43,910,061

21,356,868
13,917,144
35,274,012

Available-for-sale
Equity securities – at fair value
- Listed
Equity securities – at cost
- Unlisted
Allowance for impairment
Debt securities – at fair value:
- Listed
- Unlisted
Allowance for impairment
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Investment securities (Cont’d)
Unlisted available-for-sale equity securities totalling $1,544,588 (2015 - $1,544,588) are carried at
cost less impairment. The Bank is unable to reliably measure the fair value of the equity securities
since the shares are not traded in an active market and the future cash flows relating to the securities
cannot be reliably estimated. During the current year, the Bank disposed of an investment in shares
which was previously fully provided for in the amount of $1,706,940.
All debt securities have fixed interest rates.
The weighted average effective interest rate on securities held-to-maturity stated at amortised cost at
December 31, 2016 was 4.97% (2015 – 4.92%).
The movements in available-for-sale and held-to-maturity financial assets during the year are as
follows:

102

Available-forsale
$

Held-tomaturity
$

At January 1, 2016

10,869,468

24,404,544

Additions
Disposals (sale and redemption)
Gain from changes in fair value

2,125,823
(3,067,391)
279,101

13,369,698
(4,071,182)
-

At December 31, 2016

10,207,001

33,703,060

At January 1, 2015

13,580,832

18,517,217

Additions
Disposals (sale and redemption)
Loss from changes in fair value

3,645,245
(5,989,253)
(367,356)

24,591,457
(18,704,130)
-

At December 31, 2015

10,869,468

24,404,544
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Property and equipment
Land and
Furniture
Building and Fixtures
$
$

Equipment
$

Motor
Vehicles
$

Work in
progress
$

Total
$

Year ended
December 31, 2015
Opening net book amount
Additions
Depreciation (Note 26)

10,098,335
175,655
(504,300)

854,786
74,933
(92,016)

3,414,769
467,594
(640,293)

178,388
(35,678)

10,500
25,977
-

14,556,778
744,159
(1,272,287)

Closing net book amount

9,769,690

837,703

3,242,070

142,710

36,477

14,028,650

261,000
(118,290)

36,477
-

28,649,645
(14,620,995)

142,710

36,477

14,028,650

At December 31, 2015
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

12,101,683
(2,331,993)

2,171,111 14,079,374
(1,333,408) (10,837,304)

9,769,690

837,703

3,242,070

9,769,690

837,703

3,242,070

142,710

36,477

14,028,650

48,785
(22,879)
-

57,147
(810,354)
-

268,589
(35,238)
(5,196,982)
28,200

(175,000)
74,803

31,750
-

406,271
(210,238)
(6,030,215)
103,003

202,406

639,920

4,898,261

-

-

5,740,587

Depreciation (Note 26)

(425,007)

(86,060)

(593,446)

(16,526)

-

(1,121,039)

Closing net book amount

9,572,995

638,356

2,611,454

25,987

68,227

12,917,019

Cost or valuation

12,127,589

1,417,904

9,115,743

86,000

68,227

22,815,463

Accumulated depreciation

(2,554,594)

(779,548)

(6,504,289)

(60,013)

-

(9,898,444)

9,572,995

638,356

2,611,454

25,987

68,227

12,917,019

Year ended
December 31, 2016
Opening net book amount
Additions
Disposals
Adjustment for cost written off
Depreciation on disposals
Adjustment for depreciation
written off

At December 31, 2016

Net book amount
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14 Property and equipment (Cont’d)
The Bank’s lands and buildings located in Castries and Vieux Fort were revalued by Ronald Gardner
FRICS in July 2012.
The historical cost of land and buildings are:

2016
$

Cost
Accumulated depreciation based on historical cost
Depreciated historical cost
Valuation techniques
Market based approach:
The approach is based on the
principle of substitution
whereby the purchaser with
perfect knowledge of the
property market pays no more
for the subject property than
the cost of acquiring an
existing comparable property,
assuming no cost delay in
making the substitution.

Significant unobservable
inputs
•

Details of the sales of
comparable properties

•

Conditions influencing
the sale of the
comparable properties.

•

Comparability
adjustment.

The approach requires
comparison of the subject
property with others of inter
alia similar design and utility,
which were sold in the recent
past.
However, as no two properties
are exactly alike, adjustment is
made for the difference
between the property subject to
valuation and comparable
properties.
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2015
$

6,561,240
(3,327,223)

6,512,455
(3,254,562)

3,234,017

3,257,893

Inter-relationship between
key unobservable inputs and
fair value measurement
The estimated fair value would
increase/(decrease) if:
• Sale value of comparable
properties were
higher/(lower).
•

Comparability adjustment
were added/(deducted).

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
15 Intangible assets
Software
$

Year ended
December 31, 2015
Opening net book amount
Additions for the year
Amortization (Note 26)
Closing net book amount
As at December 31, 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

1,007,767
268,893
(300,086)
976,574
3,249,318
(2,272,744)
976,574

Year ended
December 31, 2016
Opening book amount
Additions for the year
Adjustment for cost written off
Adjustment for depreciation written off
Amortization (Note 26)
Closing net book amount
As at December 31, 2016
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

976,574
(716,128)
666,166
(244,144)
682,468
2,533,190
(1,850,722)
682,468

16 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following
balances with less than 3 months maturity:

Cash and balances with Central Bank (Note 7)
Due from other banks (Note 8)

2016
$

2015
$

34,335,601
65,429,684

24,366,479
53,502,036

99,765,285

77,929,620
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17 Other assets

Accounts receivable
Inventories of stationery and supplies
Prepayments

18 Due to customers

Time deposits
Savings accounts
Demand amounts
Interest payable

Current
Non-current

2016
$

2015
$

6,013,311
181,596
945,483

6,055,209
213,487
1,030,365

7,140,390

7,299,061

2016
$

2015
$

156,675,828
318,065,293
64,011,395
538,752,516

162,500,578
288,540,725
53,125,123
504,166,427

1,762,348

2,221,880

540,514,864

506,388,307

539,802,688
712,176

502,987,317
3,400,990

540,514,864

506,388,307

All deposits bear fixed interest rates.
The weighted average effective interest rate of customers’ deposits at December 31, 2016 was
2.05% (2015 – 2.26%).
19

Other liabilities

Manager’s cheques outstanding
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Dividends payable on ordinary shares
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2016
$

2015
$

2,732,146
4,412,701
676,528
7,821,375

1,501,617
3,062,961
652,714
5,217,292
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20 Defined benefit asset
Net Asset in Statement of Financial Position
The amount recognised in the statement of financial position at the reporting date is determined as
follows:
2016
$
4,174,000
(6,108,000)
(1,934,000)

Present value of funded obligations
Fair value of plan assets
Net defined benefit asset
Movement in defined benefit obligations

Defined benefit obligation at start of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Members’ contributions
Experience adjustments
- Actuarial gains from changes in
assumptions
Benefits paid
Defined benefit obligation at end of year

financial

2015
$
4,013,000
(5,686,000)
(1,673,000)

2016
$

2015
$

4,013,000
111,000
275,000
53,000

3,817,000
123,000
266,000
59,000

(115,000)
(163,000)
4,174,000

(230,000)
(22,000)
4,013,000

The defined benefit obligation is allocated between the Plan’s members as follows:
i.
ii.
iii.

Active members
Deferred members
Pensioners

78%
10%
12%

86%
10%
4%

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period
was 11.5 years (2015 – 11.8). 99% (2015 – 99%) of the benefits for active members are vested. 24%
(2015 – 22%) of the defined benefit obligation for active members is conditional on future salary
increases.
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20 Defined benefit asset (Cont’d)
Movement in fair value of plan assets
2016
$

2015
$

Fair value of Plan Assets at start of year
Interest income
Return on Plan Assets, excluding interest income
Bank’s contributions
Members’ contributions
Benefits paid

5,686,000
401,000
(67,000)
198,000
53,000
(163,000)

5,199,000
370,000
(70,000)
150,000
59,000
(22,000)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year

6,108,000

5,686,000

334,000

300,000

2016
$

2015
$

5,935,000
173,000
6,108,000

5,555,000
131,000
5,686,000

Actual return on plan assets
Allocation of plan assets

Government issued bonds
Cash and cash equivalents
Fair value of plan assets at end of year

All asset values as at December 31, 2016 were provided by the Bank. The fair value of the
government bonds has been calculated on an amortised cost basis.
The Plan’s assets are invested in a strategy agreed with the Plan’s trustees, which is largely driven
by the statutory constraints and asset availability. Asset-liability matching strategies are not used
by the Plan.
Amounts Recognised in the Statement of Income
2016
$
111,000
(126,000)
(15,000)

Current service cost
Net interest on net defined benefit asset
Net pension (income)/expense (Note 28)

2015
$
123,000
(104,000)
19,000

Re-measurements recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
2016
$
Experience gains and total amount recognised in Other
Comprehensive Income
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2015
$
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20 Defined benefit asset (Cont’d)
Reconciliation of opening and closing statement of financial position amounts
2016
$

2015
$

Net defined benefit asset at January 1
Unrecognised gain charged to retained earnings

(1,673,000)
-

(1,382,000)
-

Opening defined benefit asset
Net pension (income)/expense
Re-measurements recognised in Other Comprehensive
Income
Bank contributions paid

(1,673,000)
(15,000)

(1,382,000)
19,000

(48,000)
(198,000)

(160,000)
(150,000)

Net defined benefit asset at December 31

(1,934,000)

(1,673,000)

Summary of principal actuarial assumptions as at December 31
2016
%
Discount rate
NIC earnings increases
Pension increases
Future salary increases

7
2
0
4

2015
%
7
2
0
4

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published mortality tables. The life
expectancies underlying the value of the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2016 and
2015 are as follows:
Life expectancy at age 60 for current pensioner years
- Male
- Female
Life expectancy at age 60 for current members age 40 in years
Future salary increases
- Male
- Female

21
25

21
25

21
25

21
25

Sensitivity analysis
The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions used. The following
table summarises how the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2015 would have changed
as a result of a change in assumptions.
1% pa
1% p.a.
increase
decrease
%
(409,000)
364,000

- Discount rate
- Future salary increases

66

%
491,000
(300,000)
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20 Defined benefit asset (Cont’d)
Sensitivity analysis (Cont’d)
An increase of 1 year in the assumed life expectancies shown above would have increased the defined
benefit obligation at December 2016 by $45,000 (2015 - $41,000).
The duration of the benefit obligation is 11.5 years (2015: 11.8 years).
These sensitivities were calculated by re-calculating the defined benefit obligations using the revised
assumptions.
Funding
The Bank, which meets the balance of the cost of funding the defined benefit pension plan, must
pay contributions at least equal to those paid by members, which are fixed. The funding
requirements are based on regular (at least every 4 years) actuarial valuations of the Plan and the
assumptions used to determine the funding required may differ from those set out above. The Bank
expects to pay $171,000 (2015 - $184,000) to the Pension Plan during 2017/2016.
21

Deferred income tax liability
Deferred income taxes are calculated on temporary differences between amounts for financial
reporting purposes and those for tax purposes, using a principal tax rate of 30%.

At beginning of year
Charge for the year (Note 30)

2016
$
(755,528)
112,062

2015
$
(669,884)
(85,644)

Deferred income tax liability at end of year

(643,466)

(755,528)

The deferred income tax liability comprises the following temporary differences:

Accelerated capital allowances
Defined benefit asset
Deferred tax liability at income tax rate of 30%
22

Share capital

2016
$
(210,888)
(1,934,000)

2015
$
(845,428)
(1,673,000)

(2,144,888)

(2,518,428)

(643,466)

(755,528)

No. of
Shares

2016
$

No. of
Shares

2015
$

4,999,966

7,971,454

4,999,966

7,971,454

Authorized:
5,000,000 ordinary shares of no
par value
Issued and fully paid:
At beginning and end of year
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23 Reserves
Reserves comprise:

Statutory reserve
Revaluation reserve – Property and equipment
Revaluation reserve for interest on non-performing loans
Revaluation reserve for loan impairment
Revaluation reserve – Available-for-sale securities

2016
$

2015
$

7,971,454
3,715,427
4,382,764
1,216,353
654,425

7,971,454
3,722,256
375,324

17,940,423
12,069,034
Statutory reserve
Section 45 (1) of the Banking Act #3 of 2015, which was enacted in November 2015, requires all
banks to maintain a reserve fund - Every licensed financial institution shall maintain a reserve fund
and shall, out of its net profits of each year, transfer to that fund a sum equal to not less than twenty
per cent of profits whenever the amount of the reserve fund is less than a hundred per cent of the
paid-up or, or as the case may be, assigned capital of the licensed financial institution.
The share capital of the Bank is unchanged, the reserve fund is a hundred per cent of the paid-up
capital and a transfer was not required at the reporting date.
Revaluation reserve – Property and equipment
The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of property and equipment above its previous
carrying amount. The Bank transfers a portion of the reserve to retained earnings annually as the
asset is used by the Bank. The value of the transfer is the difference between depreciation based on
the revalued carrying amount of the asset and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost.
Revaluation reserve for interest on non-performing loans
This reserve is created to set aside interest accrued on non-performing loans where certain conditions
are met in accordance with International Accounting Standard (IAS 39). The Prudential Guidelines
of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank, however, do not allow for the accrual of such interest. The
interest is therefore set aside in a reserve and is not available for distribution to the shareholders.
Reserve for loan impairment
This reserve is created to set aside the amount by which the loan loss provision calculated under the
Prudential Guidelines of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank exceeds the loan loss provision
calculated in accordance with IAS 39. The excess is therefore set aside in a reserve and is not
available for distribution to the shareholders.
Revaluation reserve – Available-for-sale securities
The reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial
assets until the assets are derecognised or impaired.
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24

Net interest income

Interest and similar income
Loans and advances
Deposits with banks
Investment securities

Interest expense and similar charges
Time deposits
Savings deposits
Demand deposits

Net interest income
25

25,685,061
32,163
3,623,091

27,853,000
5,935
3,116,578

29,340,315

30,975,513

4,006,452
6,523,374
27,191

5,222,423
7,115,219
35,901

10,557,017

12,373,543

18,783,298

18,601,970

2016
$

2015
$

5,567,603
3,239,819
(327,989)
9,972
871,314
120,772

5,145,708
2,889,200
961,564
82,815

9,481,491

9,079,287

2016
$

2015
$

7,822,457
6,975,197
1,365,183
1,078,258

7,923,476
6,680,953
1,572,373
1,097,544

17,241,095

17,274,346

Other expenses

Administrative expenses (Note 27)
Staff costs (Note 28)
Depreciation and amortisation (Note 14 and 15)
Operating lease rental
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2015
$

Other operating income

Commission and other income
Foreign exchange
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Gain on disposal of investment
Fee income
Dividend income

26

2016
$
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27

28

Administrative expenses
2016
$

2015
$

Card services expense
Computer expense
Other operating expenses
Postage, telephone and telexes
Security expenses
Utilities
Repairs and maintenance
Advertising
Other professional fees
Bank charges
Directors’ fees and expenses
Stationery
Audit fees
Insurance
Bank licence
Rates and taxes

1,397,584
1,067,946
889,870
656,373
556,428
539,494
528,670
407,834
401,807
353,384
298,620
226,457
213,836
181,478
80,000
22,676

1,151,000
928,526
746,398
772,099
622,442
631,689
426,239
705,045
603,937
260,550
297,200
238,585
199,625
183,098
128,000
29,043

Total administrative expenses

7,822,457

7,923,476

2016
$

2015
$

Staff costs

Salaries and wages
Other employee benefits
Profit sharing
Social security costs
Pension (income)/expense (Note 20)

5,572,522
1,180,635
237,040
(15,000)

5,491,334
948,461
222,158
19,000

6,975,197

6,680,953

The average number of employees during the year was 138 (2015 -126).
29

Impairment losses

Impairment losses from loans and advances (Note 12)

70

2016
$

2015
$

9,379,683

9,267,492
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30

Income tax expense
2016
$
Current tax
Deferred tax (Note 21)

2015
$

299,326
(112,062)

26,189
85,644

187,264

111,833

Tax on the Bank’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the statutory tax rate of 30% (2015 – 30%) as follows:

Profit before income tax
Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate of 30%
Tax effect of exempt income
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses
Tax incentives

2016
$

2015
$

1,644,011

1,139,419

493,203
(1,714,829)
1,853,327
(444,437)

341,826
(1,606,666)
1,687,849
(311,176)

187,624
11.4%

Effective tax rate

111,833
9.8%

There was no income tax effect relating to components of other comprehensive income.
31 Earnings per share

2016
$

2015
$

Weighted average no. of shares

4,999,966

4,999,966

Profit for the year

1,456,747

1,027,586

0.29

Earnings per share

0.21

Basic and diluted
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to
shareholders of $1,456,747 (2015 - $1,027,586) divided by the weighted average number of shares
in issue ranking for dividend during the year of 4,999,966 (2015 - 4,999,966).
32

Dividends
During the year, a total of $499,996 (2015 - $Nil) representing $0.10 per share, was appropriated
from retained earnings relating to dividends declared in respect of the year ended December 31,
2015. As at December 31, 2016, $476,182 of this amount had been paid.
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33 Related party transactions
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Bank.
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Bank if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Bank;
(ii) has significant influence over the Bank; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Bank or of a parent of the Bank.
(b) An entity is related to the Bank if any of the following conditions applies:
(i) The entity and the Bank are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).
(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).
(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Bank or an entity related to the Bank.
(vi) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the Bank or is a member of the
key management personnel of the Bank (or of a parent of the Bank).
(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is part, provides key management
personnel services to the Bank or its parent.
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties,
regardless of whether a price is charged.
The related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year-end and related expenses and income
for the year are as follows:
Loans and advances to Directors and related entities

Loans outstanding at beginning of year
Net loans (repaid)/issued for the year
Loans outstanding at end of year
Interest income earned

72

2016
$

2015
$

8,748,568
(4,366,671)

7,879,407
869,161

4,381,897

8,748,568

223,340

611,141
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33 Related party transactions (Cont’d)
Loans and advances to key management personnel
2016
$

2015
$

Loans outstanding at beginning of year
Net loans repaid for the year

3,842,995
(262,313)

3,994,277
(151,282)

Loans outstanding at end of year

3,580,682

3,842,995

186,875

217,907

Interest income earned

The loans and advances to directors and other key management personnel are secured over property
of the respective borrowers.
No impairment losses have been recorded against balances outstanding during the period with
directors or key management personnel, and no specific allowance has been made for impairment
losses on balances with directors or key management personnel and their immediate relatives at the
reporting date.
Deposits from Directors and related entities
2016
$

2015
$

Deposits at beginning of year
Net deposits received during the year

6,878,392
3,025,614

3,892,192
2,986,200

Deposits outstanding at end of year

9,904,006

6,878,392

162,771

130,872

2016
$

2015
$

Interest expense on deposits
Deposits from key management personnel

Deposits at beginning of year
Net deposits (paid out)/received during the year
Deposits outstanding at end of year
Interest expense on deposits
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774,700
(647,892)

691,916
82,784

126,808

774,700

4,198

20,326
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33 Related party transactions (Cont’d)
Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel are those persons that have authority and responsibility for directly or
indirectly planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Bank.

Salaries and other short-term benefits
Post and other employment benefits

2016
$
1,051,623
202,389

2015
$
1,223,623
404,278

1,254,012

1,627,901

At the end of the financial year, directors’ holding of shares totalled 49,566 (2015 – 63,715) or
0.99% (2015 – 1.27%) of shares outstanding.
34

Contingent liabilities and commitments
Loan commitments, guarantees and other financial facilities
At December 31, 2016, the Bank had contractual off-balance sheet financial instruments in respect
of (i) commitments to extend credit to customers, (ii) guarantees, and (iii) other facilities, as follows:

Loan commitments
Guarantees and standby letters of credit
Capital expenditure commitments

2016
$
22,199,587
173,008

2015
$
40,213,243
590,731

22,372,595

40,803,974

At December 31, 2016, the Bank had entered into negotiations and obtained approval with respect
to subsequent capital expenditure in the amount of $1,200,000.
35

Operating leases
The Bank leases a number of branches and other office facilities under operating leases. Lease
payments are renegotiated when the previous lease term has expired and typically run for a period
of 5 years. Some leases provide for additional rent payments that are based on changes in local price
indices. At the year end, several operating lease agreements were under negotiation. At December
31, 2016 the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases were as follows:
2016
$
1,083,380
2,029,252
3,112,632

Within one year
Within two to five years
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2015
$
1,078,074
2,722,810
3,800,884
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36 Subsequent event
Under the provisions of Section 44 (1)(a) of the Banking Act of Saint Lucia No. 3 of 2015, effective
February 4, 2017, the Bank was required to hold a minimum level of paid up capital of $20,000,000.
In order to be in compliance with this requirement, the Bank requested and received approval from
its regulator to temporarily transfer $12,028,547 from retained earnings to paid-up capital. This
transfer was further approved and ratified at a Board of Directors meeting held on February 7, 2017.
The transfer was subsequently effected and therefore the Bank remained in compliance with this
provision of the Act.
To further ensure that the Bank remains adequately capitalised, it is continuing its efforts to raise
new capital injections.
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